




VISION
The most proactive, dynamic and sustainable 
Chicken Industry in Canada.  Consumer 
Focused, Value Chain Driven.  

MISSION
Work with the Value Chain to optimize 
efficiency and delivery to consumers;

Engage stakeholders to gain their trust 
and confidence;

Strengthen our Social Licence; and 
Implement policy in a timely manner.  
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WHO WE ARE: 
Created and empowered by the British Columbia 
Chicken Marketing Scheme in 1961, the British 
Columbia Chicken Marketing Board (BCCMB) is 
responsible for setting provincial price, determining 
quota, allocating quota to growers, managing the 
quota system and collecting levies.  This includes all 
activities from the time the day-old chick arrives on farm 
until the chicken arrives at the processing plant, and is 
regulated through reporting procedures established 
in the BCCMB General Orders.  Hatcheries, growers, 
transporters and processors are licenced by the Board 
on an annual basis.  

Supply Management relies on three pillars; import 
controls, live price setting and controlling supply.  
Through quota and allocation, supply management 
of the chicken industry balances provincial chicken 
production with consumption of chicken products. 

Governance of Marketing Boards that have the 
statutory responsibility for administering the regulated 
products in BC are under the supervision of the BC Farm 
Industry Review Board (FIRB).  The BCCMB is committed 

to the concept of principle based regulation (PBR) 
and outcome based decision making through SAFETI 
(Strategic, Accountable, Fair, Effective, Transparent, 
Inclusive) initiatives as directed by FIRB.  These initiatives 
support good governance in the regulated marketing 
sector. 

In order to respond to changing societal priorities and 
a changing and increasingly complex marketplace, the 
Board has adopted a number of principles to guide its 
members within its national and provincial mandate 
and jurisdiction.  The priorities of the Board are outlined 
in the current 5-year strategic plan which appears on 
the BCCMB website at www.bcchicken.ca.  It is the 
intention of the Board to commence the process to 
review and develop a new strategic plan early in 2016.  

British Columbia has over 325 chicken growers licenced 
by the Board, holding either a quota or a permit.  
Growers produce a number of chicken varieties.  Under 
the mainstream class of chicken, production includes; 
free run chicken (inside the barn), free range chicken 
(access to outdoors) certified organic chicken and 
chicken raised without antibiotics.  Under the class of 
specialty chicken, production includes Silkie chicken 
and several varieties of Asian breeds of chicken, which 

Pillar
I

Limit Imports
Foreign A�airs and 
International Trade 

Canada (DFAIT)

Manages a system of import 
limitations and high tari�s 
needed to protect the SM 
system from destabilizing 
production from countries 

outside of Canada

Pillar
II

Establish Prices
British Columbia

Chicken Marketing Board

Each 8 week quota period, 
the BCCMB sets a 

formula-based producer 
price for mainstream 

chicken – to achieve a fair 
return for e�cient growers

Pillar
III

Set & Manage Quotas
British Columbia

Chicken Marketing Board

BCCMB allots provincial 
allocation to individual 

growers on an 8 week cycle, 
and manages quota 

compliance (through 
licencing and levies)
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are sold in the marketplace with head and feet attached.  

All growers are required to apply for a licence each 
calendar year, and may be granted a licence if they 
continue to be in good standing with the Board.  
Growers must follow and receive yearly certification in:

�� The National On Farm Food Safety Assurance 
Program (OFFSAP)

�� The National Animal Care Program (ACP)

�� The Provincial Bio-Security Program 

These programs ensure BC chicken growers continue 
to produce a high quality and a safe source of locally 
grown chicken for the Canadian consumer.  

During the calendar year 2015, British Columbia’s 328 
chicken growers produced 217 million kilograms (live 

weight) of chicken (a decrease of 0.63% from last year) 
compared to 219 million kilograms in 2014.  For the year 
2015, BC produced 99.2% of its periodic allocation.  

During 2015, there were changes to the makeup of the 
Board.  The 3 year term of elected Board member Mr. 
Derek Janzen expired in March 2015.  He was re-elected 
by acclamation.  As such, the Board in 2015 did not 
have the opportunity to institute its newly adopted and 
FIRB approved electronic voting/mail-in ballot method 
using the Council of Marketing Boards (COMB) as the 
election officer.  

Elected Board member Mr. Kerry Froese requested 
and was granted a leave of absence from the Board on 
June 24th of 2015 citing personal reasons.  The Board 
reviewed its options respecting the vacancy which it 
discussed with the BCCGA and obtained advice and 
direction from FIRB.  The Board appointed Mr. Mark 

Left to right:  Greg Gauthier (Vice Chair); Derek Janzen; Robin Smith (Chair); Alistair Johnston; Mark Driediger.  
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Driediger to serve as a non-voting member of the 
BCCMB effective July 15, 2015.  His role as an appointed 
member of the Board continues until such time as Mr. 
Froese is able to return to his duties or until his term 
on the Board expires in March of 2016.  At that time an 
election will be held for a grower to serve a three year 
term on the BCCMB.  Assuming there is more than one 
candidate for the position, the Board will hold its first 
electronic/mail-in ballot grower election in 2016.  

In September of 2015, Mr. Alistair Johnston was 
reappointed by OIC #530 as a member of the BCCMB 

for a 3 year term ending September 30, 2018.  

There were a number of changes to the BCCMB staff in 
2015.  Katie Lowe, Manager of Administration left the 
Board on March 19, 2015 after 11 years to pursue other 
interests.  Shawn Mallon started with the Board on June 
10, 2015 in the position of Operations Coordinator.  Erica 
Driesen successfully completed her probationary period 
on December 1, 2015 as Administrative Assistant.  The 
structure of the office staff reflecting the new changes 
is illustrated below.  
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Left to right (back row):  Kathy Erickson, Kira Neu, Arlene Oslie, Bill Vanderspek, , Yvonne Wallace, Cheryl Davie
Left to right (front row):  Christine Rickson, Jason Maarhuis, Carol Blatz, Shawn Mallon, Erica Driesen.

MANY THANKS to BCCMB staff members Christine Rickson, Carol Blatz, Kathy Erickson, 
Cheryl Davie, Yvonne Wallace, Arlene Oslie, Kira Neu, Jason Maarhuis, Shawn Mallon and 
Erica Driesen for their continued hard work and dedication.

Respectfully submitted     Respectfully submitted

ROBIN SMITH      BILL VANDERSPEK
BOARD CHAIR      EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
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STAKEHOLDER 
ENGAGEMENT
The Board engages with direct industry participants, 
other regulated marketing agencies and other groups 
with interest in the BC chicken industry for input and 
feedback using a number of mechanisms.  

The Board continues to attend meetings with:
�� BC Chicken Growers Association (BCCGA) Directors 

(monthly)

�� Lower Mainland BCCGA grower meetings  
(bi-monthly)

�� Interior division of the BCCGA grower meetings  
(bi-monthly)

�� Vancouver Island division BCCGA growers meetings 
(bi-monthly)

These allow the Board to provide and receive direct 
face-to-face feedback in emerging industry issues on 

a regional basis, and allows the Board to engage in 
consultation prior to managing change in the industry.  

Additionally, the Board continues to hold one of its 
regular Board meetings in the Interior and Island region, 
providing growers with the opportunity to meet with 
the Board to discuss individual concerns without having 
to travel to Abbotsford.  The meetings are generally held 
in conjunction with regional BCCGA meetings which 
are then attended by the entire Board.  

The Board continues to hold, at a minimum, a yearly 
specialty meeting with the growers and processors 
who produce specialty chicken.  The meeting was held 
November 24, 2015 and was well attended with over 
45 people in attendance.  Topics of discussion included 
year-to-date production statistics, national allocation 
national prices of specialty product, the July 1, 2016 
deadline for use of specialty quota to  grow organic 
production and a marketing incentive concept fee for 
all specialty allotments beyond 100%.  A presentation 
was given on trends and opportunities in the specialty 
market.  The new CFIA flock-sheets were presented 
and a tutorial provided to aid in filling out the correct 
information.  

CONSUMERS
& PUBLIC

BCCMB

Hatcheries

Hatching
Egg

Producers

Chicken
Growers

Chicken
Processors

PPAC

SMAC

Pricing & Production 
Advisory Committee

Specialty Markets 
Advisory Committee

Regulated
Sectors

BCFIRB
COMB
COGA

CFC
FPCC
SM4/5
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The Board plans to institute, commencing in 2016, 
a more formal quarterly meeting with the BCCGA 
Directors.  The intention of these quarterly meetings 
is to provide a more structured process for discussion 
of items of mutual interest and concern, with prior 
circulation of agenda items and related documents.  
BCCMB staff will be in attendance to take minutes which 
will be circulated to all attendees within a few days of 
the meeting.  The grower members of the Board plan to 
continue to attend monthly BCCGA directors meetings 
when possible.   

The Board meets with processors collectively or 
individually as required to discuss items of mutual 
interest and concern.  The Board also plans to institute 
in 2016 a more formal quarterly meetings schedule 
with the Primary Poultry Processors Association of 
BC (PPPABC) using the same template as noted for 
the BCCGA Directors.  Direct communication with 
processors continues between the Board or staff prior to 
and as a part of the national allocation setting process.  

The Board meets with the BC Broiler Hatching Egg 
Commission (BCBHEC) on a regular basis to discuss 
areas of mutual interest and concern.  The Executive 
Directors of the two commodity Boards meet on an 
informal basis often.  The full update to the linkage 
which was put on hold in 2014 due to Avian Influenza 
has recommenced, with all the data being collected by 
Serecon Consulting by the end of 2015.  

The Board continues to communicate electronically with 
all industry partners via monthly Board reports.  Statistics 
are also delivered through the quarterly BC Chicken Fact 
sheet.  Communiques are sent on an as needed basis.  
Current and past reports can be accessed on the public 
side of the website at www.bcchicken.ca Growers 
without internet access continue to be provided with 
the reports via fax or by Canada Post.  

The Board staff continues to participate in various 
outreach programs to engage with and educate the 
public.  Staff participated with the chicken industry 
to operate the Poultry in Motion trailer at various 
agriculture events.  Staff and friends participated in the 
2015 Vancouver Sun Run.  

Communication also occurs through the various 
committees of the Board such as the Pricing and 
Production Advisory Committee (PPAC) and the 

Specialty Markets Advisory Committee (SMAC) which 
are comprised of grower and processor representatives 
appointed by the Board.  The Board receives written 
input from the respective committees after every 
meeting in the form of draft minutes and/or a letter 
from the committee Chair summarizing the meeting, 
and emerging issues.  When required, briefing 
notes are prepared by staff and circulated to the 
committee for advice and input prior to the meeting.  
All documentation arising from and presented at the 
committee meetings is forwarded to the Board to assist 
the Board in making its decision. 

Vancouver Sun Run chicken team

A view from the Poultry In Motion trailer 
at P.N.E.
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PRICING AND PRODUCTION 
ADVISORY COMMITTEE
(PPAC) REPORT - 2015:  
The Board established PPAC pursuant to Section 3.20 
of the BCCMB Scheme, composed of 3 growers, 3 
processors, and 1 broiler hatching egg producer. All are 
appointed by the Board after consultation with their 
respective Associations. Alternate members and the 
independent Chair are appointed by the BCCMB.

I am pleased to report PPAC met 8 times in 2015, with 
a majority of the Committee meetings in person versus 
conference calls.   The Committee understands the 
importance of face-to-face meetings to ensure there is 
a balance of open discussion between processors and 
growers, and that all accept the responsibility to ensure 
a sustainable chicken industry. 

PPAC addressed the following issues and opportunities 
during fiscal 2015:

�� February 2015 -  It was agreed an organic grower 
would be invited to the pricing discussions as growers 
acknowledged having an organic COP is different 
than how the mainstream price is set via formula.  
The Serecon COP is updated every 16 weeks for feed 
and chicks and circulated to PPAC. We then meet to 
determine a recommendation for the organic live 
price, and forward recommendations to the Board. 
 
Due to the wild fluctuations in organic feed, the 
growers and processors discussed whether the 
organic price should be set every 8 weeks with the 
lag time to be 2 to 10 weeks.  All concurred with the 
concept, however were not prepared to make a 
recommendation to the Board.  It was felt more feed 
data would be required.  
 
The Board asked PPAC for their proposed 
amendments on the Recommended Code of 
Practices. Topics discussed were:  Low Density, High 
Density, and the Lighting Program. Comments were 
to be forwarded to the Board in writing by either the 
processors or growers.   
 

The Board informed PPAC of the proposed 
amendments to the CFC Operating Agreement, and 
outlined the 4 concerns of the BCCMB which were 
sent to CFC in a letter.   
 
The Board informed PPAC of proposed AI grower 
compensation for 2014, and after lengthy 
discussions and comments from both processors 
and growers, it was felt the issue of compensation for 
AI should be part of a larger discussion by industry 
and not focused at the primary production level. 
The PPAC had no further advice to go forward to the 
Board. 

�� March 2015 - The growers triggered exceptional 
circumstances respecting the live price for A-129.  
The Board allowed PPAC one hour, face-to-face, 
to discuss this pricing order during their scheduled 
Board meeting.  The Growers provided a package of 
documents to those in person at the meeting only.  
After discussions the following was achieved:  
 

“The PPAC achieved consensus, agreeing the BC 
pricing formula be reset using the traditional (old) 
Ontario weight category going forward. In A-130, a 
one-off adjustment be made to reflect the difference 
for A-129 (approximately 1.3 cents). PPAC will meet to 
discuss the A-130 pricing prior to the period being set 
(in the week of March 30) and have the Board deliver 
a presentation on the CFO COPF. ” 

�� April 1, 2015 - The Board updated PPAC on the 
Ontario Cost of Production Formula (COPF) on 
pricing going forward as was promised at a previous 
PPAC meeting.  The Committee discussed the 
CFC Allocation System, the CFC Memorandum of 
Understanding and the Operating Agreement. 
 
The Board provided PPAC a historical background 
on Organic pricing and the events of volatile feed 
pricing. The grower members stated they were in 
favour of the PPAC setting the price using the Serecon 
COP.  The processors requested more details with 
respect to BC Organic feed, and pricing at 100% 
cost recovery was not acceptable when feed is at a 
high point.   In addition, PPAC discussed the Market 
demand for Certified Organic and ABF/RWA chicken. 

British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
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�� April 13, 2015 - PPAC met with a representative 
from Serecon to discuss the COP for Organic chicken. 
Discussions were around adjustment to Organic 
COP – “land rent”, and fluctuations with the feed 
prices.  After lengthy discussions, the grower and 
processor sides each caucused. The end result; there 
was “not” a PPAC consensus.  PPAC could not agree to 
price recommendation to the Board for the Organic 
Price for period A-130, nor for the periods following 
thereafter.   

�� June 11, 2015 – Follow up on processors request 
for supportive benchmarking on world markets of 
organic grains. Staff previously circulated a Board 
Briefing note, dated June 1, 2015, respecting the 
Organic market. Processors and growers each made 
their own interpretation of the information and 
processors were worried about excessive grower 
margins being contained in the COP, and were not 
comfortable locking in 100% COP. Each side caucused.  
 
Growers recommended 100% COP.  Processors 
provided no number and left their points with the 
Board to let the Board deal with it.  These differing 
positions and viewpoints were provided to the Board 
as input from the PPAC.   

��  August 14, 2015 - The Board decision, after receiving 
input from the PPAC, to set the Organic price was: 
“effective with Quota Period A-133, the Board will 
set the live price each period for certified organic 
chicken at 100% of the Serecon Cost of Production 
formula, unless varied by exceptional circumstances 
per Schedule 2 Section 7 Variation for Exceptional 
Circumstance of the August 26, 2011 BCCMB General 
Orders”. This practice will remain in effect until such 
time as another method can be established that 
provides transparent, defendable, sustainable an 
predictable results.  PPAC is tasked with discussing this 
issue further and providing input and advice to the 
Board. 
 
Without another multi or single period agreement of 
the PPAC the mainstream broiler price reverts to the 
formula found at Schedule 19 of the August 26, 2011 
BCCMB General Orders, “the weighted average of 
Ontario and the Prairie provinces plus a differential of 
4.35 cents/kg live weight”.  

�� October 1-2015 - PPAC again discussed the 
mainstream broiler pricing and catching costs, and 
after lengthy discussion, PPAC agreed to extend the 
current existing multi period agreement for one 
period (A-133) only, keeping all existing caveats 
and pricing differential of 4.85 cents in place. 
Unanimously recommended same to the Board. 

�� November 24, 2015 - Prior to this meeting, the 
growers and processors had previously discussed 
the multi-period agreement, and at this meeting 
PPAC agreed unanimously to recommend to the 
Board - “to extend the current existing multi-period 
agreement forward for 6 periods (A-134 to A-139 
inclusive) the existing differential at 4.85 cents 
with all existing caveats”.  The Board agreed with 
aforementioned recommendation, and FIRB was 
notified of the agreement. 
 
It was noted the online survey respecting proposed 
amendments to the Recommended Code of Practice 
ended December 4, 2015. All PPAC members agreed 
to participate.   
 
The Board updated PPAC on CFO details re: COPF 
pricing mechanism, CFC Operating Agreement 
amendments, and progress on collection of data for 
the broiler/hatching egg Serecon Linkage.  Processors 
updated PPAC on their supply, noting that higher 
than normal allocations have been helpful.

 
As noted above, 2015 was a busy year for PPAC, and I 
am honoured to Chair such a committee.  There were 
new members during the year, and as recommended 
by the Board, I had an opportunity to visit some of 
their operations to gain a better understanding. The 
commitment by the members, the Board and Staff are 
commendable and all are working very hard to sustain 
positive results.   I look forward to additional, successful, 
meaningful and cooperative impacts for PPAC in 2016.

Karen Landon
PPAC Chair 

British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
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SPECIALTY MARKETS ADVISORY 
COMMITTEE (SMAC) ANNUAL 
REPORT 2015
The Board constituted SMAC with the purpose to 
provide advice to the Board on matters related to the 
specialty sector and provide a forum whereby the 
specialty sector can discuss areas of mutual interest 
and concern.  I am pleased to report all Committee 
members met 6 times, face-to-face, to discuss pricing 
and issues related to cost of production (COP).  SMAC 
consists of 3 Specialty Growers, 3 Specialty Processors, a 
BCCMB member observer, and a Chairperson. 

SMAC addressed the following issues and opportunities 
during fiscal 2015:

�� January 2015 – As requested at the Dec. 16, 2014 
PPAC/SMAC meeting, the BCCMB staff prepared 
a brief history and explanation of the adjustment 
of BC’s allocation to account for CFC’s Specialty 
Production Policy.  With the new specialty program, 
BC has significantly more allocation for both 
Specialty and Mainstream, even when adjustments 
for Specialty and the differential growth formula are 
considered.   

�� February 2015 – SMAC reviewed and discussed 
the Serecon updated report, and the consensus was 
to make a request to the Board for a detailed copy 
of the most recent COP spreadsheet for Specialty 
Chicken (TC and Silkie), and the actual mathematics 
and methodology contained in the report.  The 
Board advised SMAC this would be tabled for further 
discussion.  

�� SMAC unanimously recommended to the Board 
that the TC prices be set at 100% of the COP for 
period A-129 and A-130, and if feed cost moves 
$45 during A-129, the SMAC would reconvene to 
discuss pricing for quota period A-130.  

�� SMAC unanimously recommended to the Board 
that the Silkie Price for A-129 and A-130 be set at 
100% of COP, and if feed cost moves $30 during 
A-129, the SMAC would reconvene to discuss 
pricing for quota period A-130. There was no need 
to reconvene for period A-130.

�� SMAC discussed the Specialty Quota repatriation 
date of July 2016 contained in the April 2014 
communique to industry. Staff noted the 
growers had been given 2 years notice, and the 
deadline was approaching.  However, SMAC 
recommendation to the Board “recommend 
the Specialty quota deadline of July 1, 2016 be 
reviewed by the Board with a view to ensure stable 
orderly marketing and to not unduly disrupt 
allocation to growers”.  The Board received the input 
from the SMAC but noted the 2014 communique, 
and advised SMAC the period to July 1, 2016 will 
provide growers with sufficient time to transition 
themselves from one class of quota to another, and 
that the July 1, 2016 date would not be amended.

�� The Board updated SMAC on the Specialty 
Production across Canada, and assured they would 
keep SMAC informed of any subsequent Specialty 
allocation being set in other provinces. 

�� June 2015 – SMAC made a request to the Board 
to receive the National Specialty Allocations for 
information purposes. BCCMB staff sent A-126 through 
to A-129 and will continue to do so going forward for 
each period.

�� The Board updated SMAC on the Alberta and 
Ontario specialty production. SMAC reviewed the 
document obtained from the CFO website with 
respect to specialty chicken prices, fees and levies.  
BC Processors noted there was an over-supply 
of product from Ontario and the Ontario price 
is low. The opinion was that Ontario would be 
commencing a marketing campaign for Specialty. 
After lengthy discussions with respect to supply, 
it was felt the market-place will adjust itself over 
time, and any adjustment from BC will occur at the 
processor level, as Specialty production is processor 
driven. The SMAC unanimously recommended to 
the Board “that Specialty allotments to growers 
over 100% would be subject to a marketing 
incentive payable to the processor, equivalent to 
the MD lease price being charged in the requested 
unallocated period (A-133 or A-134)”.   The Board 
decision is pending.  

�� The Board reminded SMAC the CFC Specialty 
Program is specific to breeds listed in the program, 
and prior to placing any other type of bird than 
those on the approved list, the hatchery/processor 

British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
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also provided further benefits to the growers aside 
from the feed cost savings, and as such requested 
“the new price category” to reduce costs to compete 
nationally.  However, the Board requested SMAC wait 
until the completion of the fully updated COP for a 
new category to be established. SMAC agreed and 
after each side caucused the following motion was 
unanimously carried:  
 

“That the SMAC recommend that the price for TC 
chicken for quota period A-134 be set at 100% of COP 
less 0.08 cents/kg in every age category. The 8 cent 
reduction will remain in place until the new updated 
Serecon TC COP will be completed. ” 

�� SMAC had a very good discussion around the 
issue of quality and standards, and all agreed the 
quality issues between Grade A and Grade U is 
significant. Both the growers and processors agreed 
the suggested two tiered pricing system may be a 
possible option. Growers are to determine the stocking 
densities that they have used for the last 6 months, 
and the processors will provide the Grade A and U 
data prior to the next Serecon update.   

�� December 17, 2015 – SMAC met with representatives 
from Serecon to provide our input to determine the 
factors, and develop a framework for the new COP.  A 
Letter of Engagement has since been signed off by the 
Board and new COP is expected to be completed prior 
to the end of May 2016

SMAC had a busy 2015, and I am honoured to Chair 
such a committee. The SMAC works very well together, 
and have unanimously agreed to all of the above 
recommendations. They are willing to work together 
to help maintain and grow the Specialty Market.  The 
commitment by the members, the Board, and Staff are 
commendable, and as recommended by the Board I was 
granted the opportunity to visit some processors’ and 
growers’ operations.  

Thank you for all your extra efforts and support this past 
year, and I look forward to working with SMAC in 2016.

Karen Landon
SMAC Chair 

must follow the CFC process to submit the genetics 
for their approval. 

��  October 2015 – SMAC recommendation to the Board  
“TC and Silkie Price for A-133 and A-134 be set at 100% 
of the COP as contained in the Serecon report dated 
Sept. 25, 2015. 
 
A processor requested a new updated COP for 
TC’s and special duals. He explained that a new 
category is required, 71 to 82 days of age and up 
to 70 days of age. After an informative discussion, 
SMAC unanimously agreed to make a request to the 
Board to “a new COP for TC chicken’s, and create an 
additional age category/price category from 71-82 
days and up to 70 days of age”.  The Board accepted 
this recommendation and requested Serecon to 
include this new age category in the new COP, and 
requested a response by end of May 2016.   

�� CFC Specialty Policy Review – CFC request for 
submissions on Specialty Production Policy was 
circulated directly to the processors on September 
18th requesting submission by October 2, 2015. 
The processors did not find the CFC timeline for 
consultation acceptable and SMAC agreed.  Processors 
were given until Monday October 5, 2015 and all 
were to share information and submit its own report 
to the BCCMB.  A thorough report was submitted by 
the PPPABC, and a fulsome review of the Specialty 
Chicken Policy was submitted on behalf of SMAC.  
Both documents were supported and submitted by 
the BCCMB to the CFC Policy Committee.  We await 
their response in 2016.   

��  November 2015 – While the Board approved the 
recommendation for a new COP for TC’s, it was also 
their recommendation to SMAC to discuss an interim 
agreement on a different age/price category while 
the COP was being updated. The Board requested the 
processors provide to the SMAC a proposed model 
and accompanying rationale for discussion prior to 
the growers meeting scheduled for November 24/15.  
 
Prior to the November 24th meeting, the processors 
provided the requested information. Their rationale 
was based on the actual feed conversions in the 
industry today, which are far more efficient then what 
was being used in the COP of May 2010. Processors 
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DIFFERENTIAL GROWTH – NEW 
ALLOCATION AGREEMENT
The end of 2015 saw no resolution to the outstanding 
issues surrounding the proposed amendments to the 
CFC Operating Agreement (OA).  However, one hurdle 
has been completed; the further processing component 
of the formula has been resolved to the satisfaction of 
the Board in late 2015, providing BC with 14.069% of the 
allocation available under this component of the new 
allocation agreement.  This number is close to BC’s pro-
rata share and is a major improvement from the 5-6% 
BC received prior to this agreement.  The CFC Directors 
have agreed to form a steering committee in 2016 to 
establish the terms of reference for a new RFP that will 
be designed to establish a fact based and defendable 
further processing component by the first allocation 
period of 2019.  Outstanding issues respecting the OA 
continue to be Annex I – exemption levels.  

The BC Processors appeal filed December 10, 2014 
has not been scheduled at FIRB.  Instead the Board, BC 
Processors with the assistance of FIRB have attempted 
to work together to provide an alternative method to 
achieve differential growth in the MOU.  The proposed 
concept “Differentiated Regional Allocation” (DRA) did 
not gain traction nationally.  Processors have reiterated 
that without such a component being part of the MOU, 
they will not support the MOU and will push to return 
to the previous allocation system which did include 
provisions for differential growth.  

It is expected that in 2016 the Board will approach FIRB 
for permission to sign the revised OA and trigger either 
a Supervisory Review or continuation of the Processors 
appeal.  

AI CAPTIVE INSURANCE 
To date, direct involvement of the Poultry Boards has 
been somewhat limited; much of the planning and 
discussion related to AI insurance has been conducted 
by the BCCGA and BCPA.  FIRB has indicated that it 
expects the Boards to become involved and play a 
pivotal role in the future direction of the AI insurance 
project.  FIRB has been very clear indicating that the 
responsibility for the final decision on whether or not to 
proceed, whether the Captive is the correct option, and 

to ensure the concept of principle based regulation (PBR) 
and outcome based decision making through SAFETI 
(Strategic, Accountable, Fair, Effective, Transparent, 
Inclusive) initiatives are being exercised and rests with 
the Poultry Boards as first instance regulators.  

The Natural Products Marketing (BC) Act (NPMA) has 
been amended to provide the legislative authority for 
commodity Boards to require mandatory insurance, 
and the implementation comes under the direction of 
Marketing Boards.  

To this end, a committee has been struck involving Board 
members and staff members from the four feather 
Boards.  The first meeting of Mandatory Insurance 
Review Committee (MIRC) was held November 12, 2015.  
Arising from that meeting, the BC Poultry Association 
(BCPA) was invited to participate on the committee.  

2014 AVIAN INFLUENZA 
OUTBREAK IN THE FRASER 
VALLEY
Just to recap, on December 1st 2014 the province of BC 
experienced an outbreak of highly pathogenic avian 
influenza (HPAI - H5N2).  Immediately the Emergency 
Response Team (ERT) was activated, working together 
with Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA), the BC 
Ministry of Agriculture (BCMA) to identify, quarantine, 
control movements and enhanced surveillance.  As 
of January 30, 2015, all 11 infected premises received 
sign off on the biological heat treatment (BHT) of 
their infected material, completing the first phase of 
composting and permitting chick placements to occur 
in all 1 km zone locations.  

On March 3, 2015, cleaning and disinfecting took place 
on the last infected farm.  Enhanced surveillance also 
began on this date, in accordance with Articles 10.4.27 
to 10.4.33 of the World Organization for Animal Health 
(OIE) Terrestrial Animal Health Code, and was carried out 
for a three month period.  No clinical cases or positive 
animals were found during this period.  

As of June 3, 2015 the CFIA considered the province 
of BC to be free of AI in accordance with OIE.  CFIA has 
requested that any restrictions on poultry, poultry meat, 
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AI IN NORTH AMERICA
December 19, 2014 first detection was reported on 
AI findings confirmed by the USDA in US commercial 
poultry flocks.  Turkey farms in Minnesota and Missouri 
were confirmed to have H5N2.  Reporting continued 
into 2015 in the Midwest US affecting 211 commercial 
flocks with H5N2 affecting turkeys, egg layers, pullet 
chicks and chicken breeding flocks and several backyard 
flocks.  The confirmed outbreak in Arkansas affected 
both primary breed facilities which supplies the bulk of 
Canada’s imported broiler hatching eggs.  

Ontario was also hit by HPAI - H5N2 in the Oxford and 
Waterloo regions of the province on April 7, 2015.  The 
affected farms were turkeys and broiler breeders.  On 

October 8, 2015 CFIA notified the World Organization 
for Animal Health (OIE) that after 3 months of enhanced 
surveillance in Ontario, no new cases of highly 
pathogenic AI were detected and all testing results have 
come back negative.  Therefore, Canada is once again 
HPAI free as per OIE guidelines.  

APPEALS & LEGAL ACTIONS
Processors appeal MOU
As mentioned previously under Differential Growth 
section of the report, the Primary Poultry Processors 
Association of BC (PPPABC) is appealing the decision 
of the Board to sign the MOU at Chicken Farmers of 
Canada respecting the Long Term Allocation Agreement 
and the decision of the Board to sign the proposed 
amendments to the CFC Operating Agreement.  To 
date no prehearing conference has been scheduled.  
Processors in Manitoba and Saskatchewan had also 
filed appeals in their respective provinces, which have 
since been withdrawn. 

Oranya appeal changes to Organic 
Production
Oranya II Holdings Inc. have appealed the changes to 
Specialty quota and Organic production contained in 
the April 8, 2014 Notice to Industry Stakeholders.  The 
appeal was dismissed by BCFIRB on September 10, 2015, 
while the issues went to mediation.  Oranya withdrew 
its appeal of December 22, 2015 after the Board agreed 
to make amendments to the Organic chicken policy as 
follows:

Designation of Mainstream quota for use as Organic 
Mainstream quota holders will not be automatically 
entitled to use Mainstream quota to produce Organic 
chicken. To ensure and maintain orderly marketing, the 

product, and by-products be removed so that trade 
could resume.  Trading partners were further assured 
that the OIE guidelines were carefully followed and the 
highly pathogenic AI had been eliminated from the 
province.  

The Board provided compensation to the 18 growers 
that were unable to place chickens due to being within 
the 1 km zones of the infected premises.  All affected 
growers were able to make arrangements to lease 
their allocations to other growers.  Affected growers 
received compensation in the amount of 4 cents for 
each kilogram of allocation leased out.  
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Board will on a case-by-case basis approve a designation 
of Mainstream quota for use as Organic production. 
Prior approval from the Board is required. The approval 
process will require: 

�� Completion of the prescribed form 

�� Proof of organic certification 

�� A detailed business plan 

�� A letter of commitment by a processor to contract for 
the product for a certain period of time (2 years) from 
the specific grower. The letter from the processor is to 
outline the specific marketplace for this product. 

Growers will be required to receive approval for the 
next unallocated period. Growers/processors wishing 
to terminate such agreements must receive Board 
approval. All signed BC101 Forms must be honored.

This policy is for: 

�� New Entrant Growers (NEG) 

�� Existing Mainstream chicken growers wanting to 
switch to Organic production. 

�� Existing growers currently using Mainstream quota 
to produce Organic production. 

July 1, 2016 deadline for declaration noted in the 
April 2014 communique: 
The current July 1, 2016 date for election for current 
Specialty quota holders will be modified. All growers 
currently using Specialty quota to grow Organic 
production will be required no later than July 1, 2016 to 
make a written election to the Board that must provide 
the number of kilograms of specialty quota held based 
on the standard eight week production period: 

�� To be converted from Specialty to Mainstream for 
use to grow Organic chicken in the 2017 production 
periods. Or, 

�� To be utilized in 2017 under the new deadline 
extension provisions to grow Organic chicken under 
the following provisions: 

�� The new extension deadline provisions will specify 
that each grower who is currently producing 
Organic chicken with Specialty quota and wishes 

to continue to produce Organic chicken with 
Mainstream quota will have until December 31, 
2020, to either convert their Specialty quota to 
Mainstream or acquire additional Mainstream 
quota under which to produce Organic chicken. 

�� A grower who wishes to avail him or her self of the 
new extension deadline will be required to make 
elections in respect of a minimum of 20% of his 
or her Specialty quota each year starting in 2017 
until the final year at 40% in 2020. 

�� By December 31, 2020 only Mainstream quota 
may be used to produce Organic chicken. 

�� This extension will allow growers additional time 
to acquire Mainstream chicken quota with which 
to raise Organic chicken if they wish to continue 
to produce Organic chicken but not to convert 
Specialty quota to Mainstream quota. No further 
extensions to the conversion deadline will be 
permitted. 

NEW EXTENSION DEADLINE/TIMELINE
 Year Minimum 

percentage 
Mainstream 
conversion 
requirement 

Specialty 
Quota that 
may be used 
for Organic 
Production 

2016 0% 100% 

December 31, 2017 20% 80% 

December 31, 2018 20% 60% 

December 31, 2019 20% 40% 

December 31, 2020 40% 0% 

The required amendments to the General Orders will be 
circulated in the New Year.

Wingtat Game Bird Packers Ltd appeal 
deduction level for disaster flock
Wingtat Game Bird Packers Ltd appealed a decision 
of the Board regarding the level of payment ordered 
to a grower for a shipments to the processor that 
was designated as a disaster flock under Part 31 of 
the August 26, 2011 General Orders.  A pre-hearing 
conference call is scheduled for January 2016.  

British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board

ANNUAL REPORT 15

BCCMB REPORT CONTINUED



Neil and Natalie Tebrinke dba 
Mountain View Acres appeal 
suspension of licence
Mountain View Acres appealed a decision of the 
Board to suspend its licence to produce the regulated 
product for 1 period for a second infraction of the same 
provisions of the August 26, 2011 General Orders.  The 
grower failed to report part of his production, and 
had taken this action specifically to avoid being over 
produced and subject to any Over Marketing (OM) levy.  
A prehearing conference call is scheduled for early in 
the New Year.  

Legal action against Fairline for non-
payment of funds
The BCCMB continued its legal action to recover any 
available funds from Fairline Canada (1992) Ltd.  This 
action is a result of Fairline’s default on payment to 
growers in the spring of 2013.  The trial occurred 
February 17, 2015 at which time the Honourable Justice 
Sharma signed a consent order specifying that Fairline 
Development Canada (1992) Ltd had agreed that they 
owe the Board the amounts as stated in the BCCMB 
claim in the amount of $504,661.95 to date the Board 
has been unable to secure any payment.  

Full decisions can be found at the BCCMB website 
at www.bcchicken.ca under “Industry Resources, 
Publications”.  

CFC SPECIALTY PRODUCTION 
POLICY
Part I – Market Development (MD) Policy
Towards the end of 2015, CFC undertook a review of 
its MD policy, requesting proposed amendments from 
provinces.   In October, the Board submitted a document 
for consideration of the CFC Policy Committee in 
support of a proposal put forward by the PPPABC.  At the 
December 2015 CFC meeting, CFC Directors approved a 
temporary amendment to the CFC MD Policy to remove 
the 50% limit on interprovincial purchases to satisfy 
MD commitments.  The amendment was based on the 
following criteria:

�� 6 period trial basis (A-137 to A-142 inclusive).

�� Amendment will expire at end of A-142 after 
completion of CFC review.

�� MD licensees may purchase on interprovincial trade 
up to 100% of MD commitment.

�� Product must be purchased from another federally 
inspected primary processor who slaughtered the 
chicken as per 5(4)(a) of Canadian Chicken Licensing 
Regulations.

�� Eligibility limited to products purchased prior to date 
of marketing – paper trading strictly prohibited.  

After the trial period, the CFC Board of Directors will 
determine if the amendment should be extended, 
made permanent or not renewed.  

Part II - Specialty Production Policy
The CFC Specialty Production Policy and the related 
regulations were approved by CFC directors in 
November 2013 with the objective of setting the first 
allocation in early 2014.  Towards the end of 2015 
CFC undertook to have a review of the policy.  In 
October 2015 the Board submitted a document for 
the consideration of the CFC Policy Committee after a 
fulsome review of the CFC Specialty Chicken Policy by 
the SMAC.  The Board supported the comments and 
recommendations of the SMAC.  

At the December 2015 CFC meeting, CFC Directors 
approved that Specialty live prices in all provinces be 
established on a per kilogram live weight basis.  

This is to certify that 

owned by 

Date of Issue Certification Agent 

 

Specialty Chicken Certification 

 
and found to be producing Specialty Chicken as defined in Part 1 of  the British Columbia  Chicken 
Marketing Board General Orders made under the Natural Products Marketing (BC) Act, 1996 and the 
British Columbia Chicken Marketing Scheme, 1961. 

Certificate #  

located at 

 

was validated on 
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ELECTION RULES
As mentioned previously under the “Who We Are” 
section, Derek Janzen was elected by acclamation and 
as a result no election was held in 2015.  So for the first 
time, the BCCMB will vote by mail-in ballot or online, 
with the results being revealed at the 2016 BCCGA AGM 
being held at the 1st Joint Poultry Conference.  

The Grower Licence application (Form BC104) was 
amended to reflect the new reality of voting online 
or by mail-in ballot doing away with the traditional 
in-person voting.  The Rules and Procedures for 
Election of Members of the British Columbia Chicken 
Marketing Board can be found on the Board’s website at  
www.bcchicken.ca  Just look under the “Industry 
Resources” tab and select “Forms and Regulations”.  A 
copy of the voting grower list can be found on the 
members’ only side of the website.  The election will 
be conducted by Ms. Heather Carriere of the Council 
of Marketing Boards (COMB).  The 2016 Notice of 
Election (including a timeline) from COMB can also be 
found posted on the front page of the website under 
“Industry News”.  The split for ballots (online vs mail-in) 
was 70%/30% for the 2016 election.  

The next iteration of FIRB mandated consultation 
process for the BCCMB election rules is slated to occur 
in 2017, for use in the 2018 and 2019 elections.  

PRODUCTION TOLERANCE 
SLEEVES
The Board first looked at amending the tolerances in 
October of 2014 arising from higher than normal under 
production affecting the entire chicken industry, which 
was due to a variety of reasons.  The Board sought 
advice from the BCCGA and PPPABC.  It was expected 
that under production arising in quota periods A-125 
and A-126 would stabilize and return to normal in 
subsequent periods.  At that time the Board decided to 
maintain the current over and under marketing sleeves 
as specified in Part 26 and 27 of the August 26, 2011 
General Orders.  

Since that time, the Board had received communication 
from growers, hatcheries and processors identifying 
inconsistent results with Raised Without Antibiotics 

(RWA) flocks.  Processors and hatcheries made 
representations to the Board to increase the tolerance 
sleeves for both over and under production for their 
RWA programs on a going forward basis.  The Board 
undertook fulsome discussions with the PPPABC as a 
whole to discuss the question of production sleeves 
related to RWA chicken.  

Following that meeting, the Board was in a better 
position to determine what steps would be required 
going forward.  The Board recognized not only the 
importance of the RWA program to industry and 
consumers, but also the challenges that are presented 
to growers, hatcheries and processors in bring this 
product to market.  The decision of the Board on 
September 16, 2015 was to amend the tolerance sleeves 
for RWA chicken (regular broilers raised without the use 
of antibiotics, not certified Organic chicken) for a trial 
period of 6 periods commencing in A-133 and ending 
at the end of shipments for quota period A-138.  The 
tolerance sleeves for both under and over production 
will move from 6% to 10% for the trial period.  Currently 
this only affects 30 growers or approximately 10.3% 
of the mainstream growers.  A report on RWA results 
and performance will be created and evaluated at the 
conclusion of the trial period.  

PRODUCTION MOVEMENT 
LIMITS 
The BC Processors in 2015 again approached the Board 
with the request for the Board to implement production 
movement limits on growers.  Since their 2012 request, 
the Board has continued to monitor the movement of 
production every period.  The Board concluded from 
the data collected, there has been no disruption to 
orderly marketing or large shifts in production between 
the large processors.  The decision of the Board was to 
make no change in the policy at this time.  The Board will 
continue to monitor the situation, and would be willing 
to revisit the issue if processors can provide supply any 
specific data to illustrate that there is a problem.   

GROWER SURVEY
2015 saw the second iteration a “grower satisfaction 
survey” as part of the Board’s strategic plan, and in order 
to continue to respond to stakeholder expectations 
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and engagement.  COMB conducted the survey on 
behalf of the Board, to ensure the responses were 
strictly confidential.  Again the survey covered grower 
satisfaction with the Board and staff in areas like 
information and communication, accomplishments 
and issues, suggestions to strengthen the industry, 
policies and operations.  The survey was expanded this 
year to request input from hatcheries and processors in 
addition to grower input.  The survey was conducted in 
late October, with the results being tabulated by COMB 
and forwarded to the Board in late November.  The 
survey’s purpose is to assist the Board in quantifying 
your satisfaction and respond to your expectations in 
terms of our services.  

At first glance, the satisfaction level ratings from the 
growers are very similar to last year.  As this is the first 
year to obtain ratings from hatcheries and processors, 
there is nothing to make a comparison to.  Staff will 
be preparing a detailed analysis in 2016 and report its 
finding to the Board and BCCGA and then posted on 
the website.  The results will be carefully examined and 
considered by the Board in our ongoing activities.  

The Board wishes to thank the 142 growers, 3 hatcheries 
and 10 processors representatives that participated in 
the online survey.  The grower response was down 
slightly from the 148 participants in 2014.

WHOLE FLOCK MORTALITY
This includes all bird types (including Specialty, 
Organic, Mainstream and Raised Without Antibiotics).

While the average first week mortality has remained 
fairly constant over the last year, the average whole 
flock mortality has been increasing. In the graphs below 
we compare mortality levels over an entire year. Please 
note that we have used the difference between the 
number of birds placed and payable birds shipped for 
the “average whole flock mortality” graph so condemns 
that are not deducted from growers and DOA’s will be 
included. The numbers from the “average first week 
mortality” graph come from the BC111 Form that each 
grower sends in seven days after placement.

January 01 - March 31
2015

April 01 - June 30
2015

Average First Week Mortality

1.57%

1.85%

July 01 - September 31
2015

1.46%
October 01 - December 31

2015

1.51%

7.09% 6.93%
6.51%

6.89%

6.14%

6.78%

7.37%

A-128
A-129

A-130

A-131

A-132

A-133

A-134

Average Whole Flock Mortality
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COMMODITY 
& SYSTEM 
MANAGEMENT
MAINSTREAM PRICING
Mainstream chicken pricing is done using a BCFIRB 
ordered formula every 8-week period.  The formula is 
based on the weighted averages of Ontario, Alberta, 
Saskatchewan and Manitoba plus a differential of 4.35 
cents (unless otherwise agreed to the by PPAC).  The 
March 28, 2013 mediated agreement of the PPAC kept 
the differential at 4.85 cents/kg from quota period 
A-120 to A-132 inclusive.  The PPAC negotiated a single 
period agreement for A-133 keeping the differential 
at 4.85 cents; then on November 24, 2015 successfully 
negotiated another multi-period pricing agreement 
continuing the 4.85 cent/kg differential from A-134 to 
A-139 (shipments the end of October 2015) inclusive.  

The General Orders contain the formula and provide for 
rules allowing the Board to vary the price for exceptional 
circumstances.  Below is the pricing across Canada for 
the year 2015.  

ORGANIC PRICING
After the Organic industry, comprised of both growers 
and processor, approached the Board with a view to 
reinstating a COP for negotiation purposes to assist in 
setting the Organic live price Serecon Consulting was 
engaged to update the certified Organic COP.  The COP 
was not finalized until quota period A-129, but after 
receiving the advice of the PPAC and reviewing the 
COP, the Board decided not to set a price due to current 
uncertainty surrounding the rapidly accelerating costs 
of certified Organic feed ingredients.  

In A-130 Serecon was tasked with obtaining current 
feed pricing information and the PPAC using that 
information met and entertained a fulsome discussion 
and negotiation on the pricing of organic chicken.  
The PPAC could not reach a decision, and put forward 
minority positions to the Board.  After reviewing the 
advice of the PPAC the Board set the price using 100% 
of the COP.  This practice continued over several periods 
and the Board determined that continuing in this 
manner was problematic as PPAC was unable to reach 
consensus.  Processors continued to reiterate that they 
did not want to have to negotiate the organic price 
every 8 weeks in a contentious manner.  

The Board on August 14, 2015 informed the PPAC 
that effective with the start of A-133, the Board would 
set the Organic live price each period for certified 

2015 Mainstream Posted Live Price ($/kg live weight)
Province A-128 A-129 A-130 A-131 A-132 A-133 A-134 Difference

(Jan - Dec)

BC  1.6360  1.6377  1.6454  1.6159  1.5950  1.6297 $1.6266  ($0.0094)

Alberta  1.6115  1.6095  1.6095  1.5935  1.5725  1.6075  1.6045  ($0.0070)

Saskatchewan  1.6030  1.6192  1.6148  1.5947  1.5715  1.6001  1.5995  $0.0015 

Manitoba  1.5965  1.6240  1.6170  1.6010  1.5834  1.6190  1.6128  $0.0030 

Ontario  1.5780  1.5560  1.5486  1.5330  1.5120  1.5470  1.5440  $0.0348 

Quebec  1.5780  1.5760  1.5690  1.5530  1.5320  1.5670  1.5640 ($0.0340)

NB  1.6430  1.6660  1.6590  1.6360  1.6150  1.6500  1.6470 ($0.0790)

NS  1.6430  1.6660  1.6590  1.6360  1.6150  1.6500  1.6470  $0.0040 

Average  1.6111  1.6193  1.6153  1.5954  1.5746  1.6088 1.6057  ($0.0108)
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Organic chicken at 100% of the COP unless varied by 
exceptional circumstances request as per Schedule 2 
Section 7 Variation for Exceptional Circumstances of the 
August 26, 2011 BCCMB General Orders.  This practice 
remains in effect until such time as another method can 
be established that provides transparent, defendable, 
sustainable and predictable results.  The PPAC was 
tasked with discussing the issue and providing input 
and advice to the Board.  

To the right is the 2015 prices for certified Organic 
chicken for the province of British Columbia:  

Organic Posted Live Price (2015)
Period Price ($/kg live weight)

A-128  n/a 

A-129 n/a

A-130 $4.1300 

A-131 $4.0400 

A-132 $4.0900 

A-133 $4.1900 

A-134 $4.2700 

Average $4.1440

SPECIALTY PRICING –16 WEEKS/SERECON COP
Pricing for Specialty chicken includes Taiwanese chicken and Silkie chicken.  
The list of breeds approved by CFC are:

ANNEXE 4 DU RÈGLEMENT SUR  
L’OCTROI DE PERMIS VISANT LES 

POULETS DU CANADA
(ARTICLE 1)

CLASSES DE POULET DE SPÉCIALITÉ

1. Poule-soie

2. Hong Kong Golden

3. Loong Kong TC

4. Bradner Long Cycle TC

5. Bradner Special Duals (Short Cycle TC)

6. VSB

7. Mt. Lehman

8. Blue Leg Taiwanese

9. Shondon TC

10. Frey’s Special Dual Purpose

Note : Le poulet de spécialité qui relève de l’une des classes 2 à 10 est 

commercialisé avec la tête et les pattes.

SCHEDULE 4 OF CANADIAN  
CHICKEN LICENSING REGULATIONS

(SECTION 1)

CLASSES OF SPECIALTY CHICKEN

1. Silkie Chicken

2. Hong Kong Golden

3. Loong Kong TC

4. Bradner Long Cycle TC

5. Bradner Special Duals (Short Cycle TC)

6. VSB

7. Mt. Lehman

8. Blue Leg Taiwanese

9. Shondon TC

10. Frey’s Special Dual Purpose

Note: Specialty chicken in classes 2 to 10 must be marketed with the 

head and feet attached.

ANNEXE 4 DU RÈGLEMENT SUR  
L’OCTROI DE PERMIS VISANT LES 

POULETS DU CANADA
(ARTICLE 1)

CLASSES DE POULET DE SPÉCIALITÉ

1. Poule-soie

2. Hong Kong Golden

3. Loong Kong TC

4. Bradner Long Cycle TC

5. Bradner Special Duals (Short Cycle TC)

6. VSB

7. Mt. Lehman

8. Blue Leg Taiwanese

9. Shondon TC

10. Frey’s Special Dual Purpose

Note : Le poulet de spécialité qui relève de l’une des classes 2 à 10 est 

commercialisé avec la tête et les pattes.

SCHEDULE 4 OF CANADIAN  
CHICKEN LICENSING REGULATIONS

(SECTION 1)

CLASSES OF SPECIALTY CHICKEN

1. Silkie Chicken

2. Hong Kong Golden

3. Loong Kong TC

4. Bradner Long Cycle TC

5. Bradner Special Duals (Short Cycle TC)

6. VSB

7. Mt. Lehman

8. Blue Leg Taiwanese

9. Shondon TC

10. Frey’s Special Dual Purpose

Note: Specialty chicken in classes 2 to 10 must be marketed with the 

head and feet attached.

ANNEXE 4 DU RÈGLEMENT SUR  
L’OCTROI DE PERMIS VISANT LES 

POULETS DU CANADA
(ARTICLE 1)

CLASSES DE POULET DE SPÉCIALITÉ

1. Poule-soie

2. Hong Kong Golden

3. Loong Kong TC

4. Bradner Long Cycle TC

5. Bradner Special Duals (Short Cycle TC)

6. VSB

7. Mt. Lehman

8. Blue Leg Taiwanese

9. Shondon TC

10. Frey’s Special Dual Purpose

Note : Le poulet de spécialité qui relève de l’une des classes 2 à 10 est 

commercialisé avec la tête et les pattes.

SCHEDULE 4 OF CANADIAN  
CHICKEN LICENSING REGULATIONS

(SECTION 1)

CLASSES OF SPECIALTY CHICKEN

1. Silkie Chicken

2. Hong Kong Golden

3. Loong Kong TC

4. Bradner Long Cycle TC

5. Bradner Special Duals (Short Cycle TC)

6. VSB

7. Mt. Lehman

8. Blue Leg Taiwanese

9. Shondon TC

10. Frey’s Special Dual Purpose

Note: Specialty chicken in classes 2 to 10 must be marketed with the 

head and feet attached.
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Specialty pricing is negotiated at the SMAC.  The price is 
set for two 8-week quota periods at a time commencing 
every odd period (i.e. A-131, A-133 etc.), based on a Cost 
of Production (COP) which is updated for changes in 
feed and chick prices every second period.  This is due 
to the length of cycle for raising Specialty chicken.  
A separate COP is done for TC and Silkie chicken 
respectively.  Below is 2015’s prices as negotiated at the 
SMAC. 

LEVIES
Levy collection is done as per the General Orders.  
Processors collect levies from growers and remit them 
to the Board.  Self-marketers remit levies directly to 
the Board.  Levies are used to fund Board activities and 
operations as per the BC Chicken Scheme (1961).  To 
the right is a comparison of levy rates across Canada for 
2015:

Levy distribution is as per the 2016 Operating Budget 
illustrating the percentage of levies used on various 
budget items.  See Next Page.

2015 SPECIALTY PRICES $/KG 
LIVE WEIGHT

Pricing for Specialty Chicken   (kilograms live weight)
TC

Period Category 1
up to 82

days of age

Category 2
83 to 110

days of age

Category 3
over 110

days of age

Silkie

A-128  $2.7742  $2.9902  $3.1896  $4.1300 

A-129  $2.7665  $2.9822  $3.1806  $4.1200 

A-130  $2.7665  $2.9822  $3.1806  $4.1200 

A-131  $2.7665  $2.9822  $3.1806  $4.0800 

A-132  $2.7665  $2.9822  $3.1806  $4.0800 

A-133  $2.7078  $2.9231  $3.1198  $4.0300 

A-134  $2.6278  $2.8431  $3.0398  $4.0300 

Levy Rates (cents/kg)
Province Provincial 

Levy
CFC 

Levy
Total
Levy

BC 1.37 0.53 1.90

Alberta 1.22 0.53 1.75

Saskatchewan 1.41 0.53 1.94

Manitoba 1.50 0.53 2.03

Ontario 1.60 0.53 2.13

Quebec 1.53 0.53 2.06

NB 0.56 0.53 1.09

NS 0.95 0.53 1.48

PEI 1.00 0.53 1.53

NFLD 1.06 0.53 1.59
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board 
Operating Budget 2016
Revenue

Levies 4,294,000

Licenses 7,500

Permits 3,700

Domestic lease fees 35,000

Other 10,000

Total Revenue 4,350,200

Expenses

Audit, Legal, Consulting 200,000

BCCGA Operating Grant 559,455

Board Member Expenses 417,000

CFC Levy 1,197,800

Rent 116,132

Salaries and Benefits 983,500

Operations 763,500

Total Expenses 4,237,387

Surplus (Deficit) before other items 112,813

Depreciation (non cash expense) -21,000

Capital project -39,750

Reserve Interest 58,000

Net Surplus (Deficit) 110,063

Audit, Legal,
Consulting

BCCGA Operating Grant

Board Member
Expenses

Salaries & Benefits

CFC Levy
Rent

5%

13%

10%

28%3%

23%

Operations
18%BCCMB 

OPERATING 
BUDGET 2016
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FISCAL MANAGEMENT
The Board has a BCCMB Board Policy Manual, which 
is updated on an “as needed” basis and is reviewed 
annually.  It contains information such as BCCMB 
Financial Controls and Procedures; covering a wide 
range of topics such as cheque issuance and signing 
authority, monthly board financial statements, board 
operating and capital budgets, petty cash control, 
board remuneration policy, travel and expense policy, 
and insurance policies.  The BCCMB Financial Controls 
were last amended on October 29, 2013.  The newly 
updated policies are circulated to Board members for 
inclusion in their copy of the policy manual.  

The Board has as its external auditor MNP LLP, an 
independent firm of Chartered Accountants, which 
is appointed by the members to audit the BCCMB 
financial statements and report directly to them.  The 
external auditors have full and free access to, and meet 
periodically and separately with, the finance committee, 
the entire Board and management to discuss their audit 
findings.  MNP also presents the audited year-end 
financial statements to the chicken growers at a meeting 
in May or June and answers questions regarding the 
statements.  

MNP provides the Board with a management letter upon 
the completion of the year-end audit which identifies 
any matters that may be of interest to management 
in discharging its responsibilities.  The letter also notes 
whether the suggestions presented in the management 
letter were addressed from the prior year.  

The BCCMB Policy Manual require that a request for 
proposals (RFP) for audit services is circulated every five 
years.  This process is intended to keep these services 
current and effective.  The current five year cycle will 
completed in 2018.  MNP has been selected as the 
Boards external auditor until the end of 2018.  

BCCGA
The BCCGA was incorporated under the Society Act of 
BC to unite the commercial chicken growers in working 
for the betterment of the chicken industry, and to act 
as a liaison between chicken growers and marketing 
boards, industry and government.  The BCCGA receives 
substantially all of its funding from the BCCMB.  As part 

of the Rainbow et al decision of FIRB in 2014, Board 
has applied more rigor and formal oversight to funding 
the activities of the BCCGA and by reviewing the 
BCCGA financial statements quarterly.  The Board, after 
reviewing the BCCGA audited financial statements for 
2014, directed the BCCGA to:

�� Recover the $50,000 investment from the Captive 
Insurance pursuant to the April 2/15 and March 4/15 
directions of FIRB.  The funds were returned to the 
Board in May of 2015.  

�� Return $150,000 the BCCGA had been maintaining 
in a contingency fund or have its transfer payments 
reduced in equal amounts for the balance of 
2015.  The Board was of the view that unexpected 
expenses that are not contemplated in the BCCGA 
budget should be dealt with if and when they 
occur by requesting additional funding from the 
Board.  The Board is of the view that the BCCGA 
has no requirement to maintain a contingency 
fund.  During the course of the year the BCCGA 
provided documentation for new projects costing 
approximately $150,000 which were deemed 
acceptable to the Board.  

BCPA
In May 2015, the Board met with the BCPA requesting 
it to provide the Board with a better understanding of 
what they do, how they are constituted, their mandate 
and as a result of the Rainbow et al decision, a better 
understanding of their finances.  The Board provides 
funding to the BCPA through a line item on the BCCGA 
budget.  After review of the BCPA finances, the Board 
directed the BCCGA to request from the BCPA:

�� A review be undertaken of the BCPA’s 2014 year-end 
financial statements by a 3rd party auditor.

�� Audited year-end financial statements going 
forward.

�� Provide further rational with respect to a substantial 
contingency fund and surplus which amounts to in 
excess of 1 year of BCPA budgeted expenditures or 
to return those funds that are retained in surplus to 
member organizations.  

�� Invoice member organizations at the start of each 
year to have sufficient operating funds for the year.  
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NEW QUOTA ISSUANCES TO 
GROWERS IN 2015
Below is an update of the activities related to the 
ninth full year of New Entrant Grower Program quota 
issuances under Part 49 New Entrant Program for Growers 
of the August 26, 2011 General Orders.  

Under the methodology contained in Schedule 9 (Part 
49) (Section 49.21) and retracted under Part 35 Quota 
Transfer Assessment the Board deemed a total of 99,604 
kilograms of quota to be available for distribution to 
qualifying new and deemed new entrant growers in 
2015. Distribution of the available quota was as follows:

Five new entrant growers were invited to begin 
operations in the Island region in 2015.  This reflects 
the needs of the small processor in the region and 
the desire of Vancouver Island consumers for locally 
grown chicken.  The number of 11,189 kilograms issued 
to each of these growers is consistent with the entry 
level for new entrants which was increased from 7,716 
kilograms per period in 2013.

Looking ahead to 2016
Using the methodology contained in Part 49 New 
Entrant Program for Growers of the General Orders 
the BCCMB has determined the available kilograms of 
quota for distribution to qualifying new entrant and 
deemed new entrant growers in 2016 as follows: 

�� 78,415 kilograms = 5% of quota transfers based on 
a 3 year rolling average.

�� + 3,910 kilograms = quota retracted by the BCCMB 
under Part 35 Quota Transfer Assessment of the 
General Orders.

�� = 82,325 kilograms available in 2016.

The BCCMB remains committed in 2016 to its New 
Entrant Grower Program that is intended and designed 
to address the needs of regional and Specialty 
production and processing.  

The Board intends to conduct a full review of the 
New Entrant Program for growers in 2016 in order to 
assess the success of the current program in meeting 
the objective of encouraging new chicken growers to 
the industry in today’s environment.  The Board will 
be conducting a consultative process with industry 
stakeholders early in 2016 prior to making any changes 
to the current program.  

GENERAL ORDERS UPDATES
The BCCMB General Orders were last fully updated 
August 26, 2011.  The Board now posts proposed 
amendments on its website at www.bcchicken.ca on 
the home page under “Industry News”.  The purpose of 
this is to allow for a 30 day written comment period prior 
to the Board approving the amendments.  Notice of 
proposed amendments usually appears in the monthly 
Board reports as well.  

There were no amendments to the General Orders 
in 2015.  As previously mentioned under the appeal 
section of this report, there will be changes surrounding 
certified Organic chicken sometime in the New Year.  
As per the BCCMB Strategic Plan, a full update of the 
General Orders will occur late in 2016.  This will involve 
industry input and new binders will be sent to industry 
upon completion of any proposed amendments.  

2015 OPERATING SURPLUS
On May 12, 2015, in accordance with Part 15 Distribution 
of Board Operating Surplus of the August 26, 2011 BCCMB 
General Orders the Board declared an operating surplus 
for the fiscal year 2014 in the amount of $664,521.00 
which is available for distribution to qualifying growers.  

Part 15 of the General Orders requires that growers “be 
in good standing” and be a current grower at the time 
that the distribution is declared.  By way of letter dated 
June 19, 2015 all registered growers were informed 
that they had until 4:00 p.m. on July 17, 2015 to be in 
compliance with the General Orders to qualify for a 

Region Type   # kgs Balance
99,604

Island Mainstream 11,189 88,415

Island Mainstream 11,189 77,226

Island Mainstream 11,189 66,037

Island Mainstream 11,189 54,848

Island Mainstream 11,189 43,659
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portion of the surplus.  Growers not in good standing 
with the Board were advised of the action required to 
bring them into good standing. Board staff distributed 
the cheques mid-August of 2015.   

GROWER DASHBOARD
The Grower Dashboard will provide chicken growers 
the ability to record their mandatory On Farm 
Food Safety, Animal Care and Biosecurity Program 
requirements on a web-based database.  BC Chicken 
had an industry consultation in March 2015 where 
staff presented the ideology for the Dashboard 
project and walked the attendees through a mock-
up of the database. This consultation session outlined 
the database to a selected group of producers and 
explain the different reporting options and capabilities 
the Dashboard will have. Armed with the feedback 
provided by this consultation, BC Chicken hired an IT 
company to develop the Dashboard program. The 
development process was ready for grower testing in 
August 2015, however due to staffing issues with the 
IT company, development stopped. In September 2015 
we were forced to hire a new IT company to develop the 
Dashboard program starting from scratch.  The new IT 
Company has committed to allocate all their resources 
to the Dashboard project to fast track development 
and begin grower testing in May 2016.   

LINKAGE 
The linkage between the BCBHEC and the BCCMB was 
to be updated in the spring of 2014.  The last full update 
of the formula and its contents occurred in 2011.  The 
context of the COP respecting fairness, equity and 
consistency of application will be reviewed.  This will 

be followed by on-farm surveys.  The surveys were put 
on hold due to the December 2014 Avian Influenza 
outbreak in the Lower Mainland.  Grower surveys 
resumed in March 2015.  Serecon reported to the Board 
that they have completed their grower interviews in 
December 2015 and commenced to compile the data.  

The results of the COP and linkage will then be reviewed 
jointly by the commodity Boards and when adopted 
will be implemented early in the New Year.  

MONITORING AND 
ENFORCEMENT ISSUES
Issue #1:  Animal Care
A grower left the farm unattended the weekend 
prior to shipment, and presented unacceptable load-
out conditions at the farm, an egregious violation of 
mandatory national and provincial animal care and 
bio-security programs.  The Board decision was to 
cancel his A-130 allotment and future allotments until 
such time as the grower was able to illustrate the farm 
fully met the requirements of OFFSAP, ACP and Bio-
Security.  The growers A-130 allotment was leased out 
to other growers contracted to the processor, to ensure 
no loss of production to the processor.  The grower was 
cautioned that any future incidents of this nature would 
result in further action of the Board up to or including 
cancellation of licence to produce the regulated 
product.  The grower was recertified after missing one 
production cycle.  

Issue #2: Barn Space and Grower 
Allotments
Growers are reminded that grower allotments 
(Domestic and Market Development) are based on 
quota holdings and predicated on measured, and 
certified barn space.  Barn space must be available to be 
considered in calculating a grower’s allotment.  Part 23 
-- Production Quotas states:

�� 23.5 An allotment of quota from the Board to a 
grower in the prescribed form is personal to the 
grower to whom it is allotted.  All chicken must be 
produced and marketed pursuant to the allotment 
by the grower to whom the quota has been allotted 
and at the registered premises in respect of which 
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that grower’s quota has been allotted.

�� 23.6 Notwithstanding anything contained in these 
General Orders to the contrary, a grower will not 
be allotted quota, undermarketing, or a market 
development quota that singly or in combination 
exceeds the maximum quota that may be allotted 
in respect of a grower’s premises calculated in 
accordance with Schedule 6. 

Leasing to circumvent barn space requirements is 
prohibited.  Market Development is only issued if there 
is available space beyond what is required to house 
domestic quota allotments.  Barns can be de-registered 
when a building no longer meets the requirements of 
the Orders, or is used for a purpose other than producing 
the regulated product.  Part 33 – Barn Space states: 

�� 33.4 Where a building no longer meets the 
requirements of this Part the grower shall inform the 
Board at the time when the building fails to meet 
the requirements.  Building space described in this 
Section will be removed from the grower’s profile 
and will not be eligible for any calculations for future 
allotments.  

Enforcement:  
A grower was found to be using two of three barns 
registered with the BCCMB for purposes other than 
producing the regulated product without informing 
the Board or requesting that these buildings be de-
registered.  Until this was discovered by BCCMB staff, 
the grower had continued to receive full Domestic and 
MD allotments which were subsequently leased out by 
the grower.  The Board has ordered that all allotments 
that were in excess of available barn space during these 
periods be deemed as over production.  100% of the 
excess production will be deducted from the growers’ 
future allotments and over marketing levies have been 
invoiced to the grower for all production over 106% in 
accordance with the General Orders.

Issue #3:  BC Form101 – Periodic 
Allotment Contracts
The BC101 contract is between the grower, processor 
and hatchery.  It should accurately reflect what is being 
done with the grower’s allotment.  If there are birds 
being sent to more than one processor, the contract 

MUST reflect this.  If some product is being custom 
slaughtered, or being used for home consumption the 
contract MUST reflect this.  

Growers are reminded that ALL slaughter of the 
regulated product is to be reported to the Board and 
levies remitted in a timely fashion.  The General Orders 
contain several parts respecting custom slaughter and 
slaughter arising from signed BC101 contracts.  The 
onus is on the grower to ensure his Quota Production 
Update (QPU) is an accurate reflection of his or her Form 
BC101 contract.

Enforcement: 
It was discovered during a routine review of processor 
slaughter reports that a grower had shipped birds to 
a processor that he was not contracted to a number 
of days prior to his normal shipping date with his 
contracted processor.  The birds that were shipped 
two days earlier were not reported to the Board and 
levies were not remitted.  When questioned, the 
grower admitted that he knew that he was going to 
be overproduced, did not want to be levied for over 
production, and thought that the problem could be 
solved by shipping birds to another processor without 
reporting them.  This grower had been reprimanded 
two years earlier for similar conduct.  The Board viewed 
this as second offence and ordered that the grower’s 
license to produce the regulated product be suspended 
for one full period during which no allotment will be 
received by the grower.  The Board notified CFC of the 
inadequate reporting of custom kill by the processor, a 
special CFC audit of the processing plant commenced 
in early December 2015.  The timeline for the report is 
early in 2016.  

Issue #4 – Disaster Flock
Part 31 of the General Orders allows the Board to 
intervene in declaring a flock to be a “disaster flock” 
and determine the consequences to the affected party 
in such circumstances.  Communication between 
processor and grower is crucial when there is a flock 
issue as there may be impact on a processor’s ability to 
meet customer needs and salvage value of the product.  

Enforcement: 
A specialty grower did not notify the processor of poor 
flock conditions.  Further, attempts to mitigate the issues 

British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board

ANNUAL REPORT26

BCCMB REPORT CONTINUED



was insufficient as the problem persisted over 3 flocks.  
Higher than normal utilities resulted for this Specialty 
product.  The birds were deemed unsaleable by the 
processor as not acceptable to customers.  Mediation 
between the parties was unsuccessful.  The Board found 
that grower management issues contributed to quality 
problems and approved the processor’s requested 
deductions for the utility product for the 3 flocks.  

REPORTING & 
GOVERNANCE
ORGANIZATION OF 
GOVERNANCE CONTROLS
Board members: All Board members are provided 
with a policy manual containing a full complement of 
information required for them in the performance of 
their duties.  The documents are reviewed yearly and 
updated as required throughout the year.  Specific 
documents that are provided include:

�� Oath of Office:  Each new Board member, 
appointed or elected, is required to sign the Oath of 
Office document. 

�� Code of Conduct:  All Board members are required 
to conduct themselves in accordance with the 
BCCMB Code of Conduct.  The Code is explained to 
each new member during an orientation session 
with BCCMB staff.  

�� Conflict of Interest Declaration:  Each Board 
member is required to submit an updated conflict of 
interest declaration on a yearly basis.  On a number 
of occasions in the past year, Board members have 
declared themselves in a conflict during Board 
discussions and have recused themselves from 
discussion and voting on certain agenda items 
during Board meetings.  

�� Financial Controls:  Policies that relate to Board 
members such as expense claims, travel policy, and 
per diem rates are provided and fully explained to 
each member of the Board.  The controls are updated 

yearly after receipt of the management letter from 
the external auditor upon completion of the year-
end financial statements.  The last update to the 
written policies occurred in October 2013.  

�� Board Member Evaluation:  Each year the Board 
completes a performance evaluation, through the 
auspices of the BC Council of Marketing Boards 
(COMB).  The last one was completed in November 
2015.   

Staff members:

�� All staff members are provided with an Employee 
Policy Handbook which clearly outlines BCCMB 
expectations, policies, and benefits.  

�� Formal job descriptions are in place for all BCCMB 
staff positions and are updated as required.  

Training of Board and Staff
Board and staff participate in ongoing educational 
opportunities in regard to Board management 
workshops like Centre for Organizational Governance 
in Agriculture and Accountability Framework seminars.  

Additionally, staff attended professional development 
courses in the areas of auditor certification training, 
fundaments of pest management, and seminars 
covering euthanasia, CHEQ auditor training, PAACO 
training, Poultry Service Industry Workshops, and ARC 
mapping.  Staff also undertook online training courses 
for Poultry Pro Certification.  Staff also participated at 
processor sponsored grower seminars and various 
poultry symposiums offered throughout 2015.  

British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board

ANNUAL REPORT 27

BCCMB REPORT CONTINUED



SOCIAL LICENCE 
& STRATEGIC 
LEADERSHIP
Some of the activities the Board has taken to exercise 
its mandate and increase the industries social licence 
through corporate social responsibilities are through 
voluntary or required programs. 

Such required programs include nationally recognized 
programs such as the CFC On-Farm Food Safety 
Assurance Program (OFFSAP) and CFC Animal Care 
Program; and provincially required programs such 
as the BC Bio-Security Program.  These programs are 
mandatory and require continued certification.  BC 
was the second province in Canada to reach 100% 
certification under the CFC Animal Care Program, and 
was the first province to reach 100% ACP certification 
(345 of 345 eligible BC chicken farms fully certified) 
under the new density regulations.  

For 2015, we continued auditing the OFFSAP, ACP and 
Bio-Security programs in the provinces.  We had a slow 
start to our auditing due to Avian Influenza. With only 
2 Auditors for the year Jason and Kathy were very busy 
trying to catch up on audits. With growers being very 
flexible we were able to have all of the 2015 audits 
completed by January 2016. In October 2015, Kira Neu 
was certified as an auditor by CFC and joins our team; 
she is now attending farms. All farms participated in their 
2015 audits with corrective actions being completed 
quickly. There were 5 warning letters sent out in 2015, 
which resulted in actions completed by the grower, and 
no further letters or penalties were required. The effort 
by BC producers is evident at the audits with the overall 
number of corrective actions decreasing on audits. The 
most common corrective action during the audits is the 
annual water test. At this time there are no changes to 
the OFFSAP, ACP or Bio-Security programs, however we 
are expecting to see some in 2016. With the review of 
the Code of Practice for Care and Handling of Poultry 
completed in 2015, we can expect the revised edition in 
the summer of 2016.  

During 2015, changes were made to the Flock Sheets 
which are filled out by growers and sent to their 
processing plant prior to shipment.  ALL growers 
must fill out the revised “BC Specific Flock Information 
Reporting Form”.  This form is used by all growers in the 
Egg, Turkey and Chicken sectors.   The form changed 
in July 2015, the new form must be used on/after 
September 1, 2015.  Full compliance for use of the new 
form is to be January 1, 2016, when it is made mandatory 
by CFIA.  The forms are required for both provincial and 
federal inspected processing plants without exception.  
The forms will be audited by inspection staff during 
OFFSAP and ACP annual audits.  The revised form 
is available online through the BCCMB website at  
www.bcchicken.ca or from the Board office to have it 
emailed directly to the grower.  Paper copies continue 
to be permissible for faxing to the processors if email is 
unavailable.  Medications in the feed and given by the 
hatchery and/or farmer must be listed on the document.  

Voluntary programs include the Recommended 
Code of Practice for the Care and Handling of Poultry, 
Siting and Management of Poultry Barns (a fact sheet 
provided by the BC Ministry of Agriculture and Lands), 
and the Environmental Farm Plan.  

ENGAGING WITH CONSUMERS
The Board and the Growers Association in July launched 
the BC Chicken Retail and Consumer Engagement 
Campaign with funding support provided in part by 
the BC Government’s “Buy Local” Program; delivered by 
the Investment Agriculture Program with funding from 
the BC Ministry of Agriculture.  The Program fit with the 
BCCMB’s strategic goal to strengthen our social licence.  
The Board participated in the Thrifty Foods “Taste of 
BC Celebration” July 11-12 in Victoria and July 18-19 
in Tsawwassen and South Surrey.  Grower volunteers 
offered samples of BBQ product to assist in consumer 
engagement and answer questions about how chickens 
are raised.  A similar program was rolled out in Save-
On Foods from July 31st to August 6th and at Choices 
Markets in August.  Radio remotes were conducted at 
several of these locations.  The campaign was reinforced 
with the use of Pattison outdoor digital signs promoting 
the event and offering the chance to “join the chicken 
squad”.  There were events at 12 stores across BC.  
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CHICKEN SQUAD UPDATE
The widely popular 90 second Chicken Squad Movie 
Trailer went back into select BC Cineplex Theaters from 
July 31st to August 30th.  Staff reported that feedback 
directly to the BCCMB offices was both positive and 
plentiful as movie goers called providing unsolicited 
rave reviews.  

The Board and staff leveraged the chicken squad trailer 
and inspector car wraps with an information session 
with the Liberal Caucus in Victoria BC in October of 2015.  

The Chicken Squad Campaign was submitted to the 
BC Chapter of the American Marketing Association 
(BCAMA) Marketing Excellence Awards, and was 
selected as a finalist alongside Nintendo for the “Public 
Relations or Experimental marketing category”.  

The Board would like to thank the grower volunteers 
who participated in this successful campaign.  

Once again the BCCMB staff members assisted with 
the Poultry in Motion trailer at the PNE this summer 
along with volunteers from the poultry industry.  This 
continues to be a very important venue for staff to 
engage with the public, listen to consumers and 
respond to questions about the chicken industry from 
the hatchery through to the dinner plate.  Staff had 
the opportunity to engage in some myth busting and 
interact with city dwellers.  
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TAKE A BITE OF BC
BCCMB continues to support Take a Bite of BC, a program 
supported by more than 25 different BC agriculture 
organizations that donate product to culinary students 
at secondary schools across the province of BC.  In 
2015, BCCMB again sent almost 700 whole birds to 
participating schools in two waves, one in February 
and the second in October allowing all culinary arts 
students to have the opportunity to cut up a whole 
chicken themselves instead of merely observing a 
demonstration. 

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION 
(FOI) REQUEST 
On February 23, 2015, the Board was in receipt of an 
email from a journalist at the Vancouver Sun requesting 
Bio-Security audits of Fraser Valley chicken farms for the 
year 2014 including names and addresses.  The same 
request was made to the BCBHEC, BCTMB and BCEMB.  
Staff followed Freedom of Information and Protection 
of Privacy Act (FOIPPA) procedures.  The Board accepted 
the request from the reporter to waive the fee (as a public 
service) and on May 6, 2015 provided approximately 
1000 documents after severing the grower contact 
information as per FOIPPA regulations.  

RESEARCH   
Research Permits
The Board currently has one research permit.  Annually, 
the permit holder meets with the Board to present his 

or her research and present their financial statements 
for review.  If not proprietary in nature, the information 
may be passed along to industry in the monthly Board 
updates, through presentations made at BCCGA 
regional meetings or possibly included in the BCCMB 
annual report.  

Research Grant
The Board on October 20, 2015 provided a research 
grant in the amount of $20,000 to Dr. Xiaonan Lu for 
his research proposal INN250 – reducing Salmonella 
and Campylobacter contamination in poultry.  The 
issue of salmonella and campylobacter control are vital 
to human health and the chicken industry.  Dr. Lu has 
also received a grant from the Investment Agriculture 
Foundation (IAF).  His project will be conducted at UBC 
and he has promised to share the vaccine that he hopes 
to create for free use to the BCCMB/BCCGA to improve 
poultry safety and quality.  
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Vision
The most proactive, dynamic and sustainable 
Chicken Industry in Canada.  
Consumer Focused, Value Chain Driven. 

Mission
Work with the Value Chain to optimize 
e�ciency and delivery to consumers; 

Engage stakeholders to gain their trust and 
con�dence; 

Strengthen our Social Licence;

and Implement policy in a timely manner.

•  Work with provinces to 
develop a solution to the 
di�erential growth issue 
within the National 
framework.

•  Grow Mainstream Market.

•  Grow Specialty Market.

•  Grow Export Market.

•  BC Allocation Strategy.

•  Increase per capita 
consumption in BC.

•  Support Grower 
Performance.

•  Timely Development of 
E�ective Policies.

•  Publish & Share the Vision 
and Strategic Plan.

•  Manage Stakeholder 
Expectations and 
Engagement.

•  Improve Communications.

•  Consumer Expectations and 
Values.

•  Consumer Expectations on 
Health Issues.

•  Consumers Expectations on 
Animal Care.

•  Develop Chicken Industry 
Story.

•  Better informed consumers 
on how the Supply 
Management System works.

Con�dent and secure every chicken 
product grown and processed in BC 
is safe and risk free of health issues.

Our social licence empowers us to 
build openness, trust and common 
goals with our stakeholders.

Innovative with respect to farm 
practices and sustainability issues; 
Innovative with respect to value 
added products; 
Proactive to lead change in the 
marketplace.

Chicken Growth of 10% 
within the National Supply 

Management System. 

Optimize System 
E�ciencies.

Stakeholders Committed 
to Vision, Direction and 

Programs.

Strengthen Social 
Licence.

BCCMB STRATEGIC PLAN
The BCCMB 5 year Strategic Plan was unveiled to 
growers in 2013. It is the intention of the Board in 2016 
to commence the process to create a new plan.  Below 
is a copy of the current plan. 
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2015 REPORT FROM 
THE CHICKEN FARMERS 
OF CANADA

Organization’s 10th ministerial meeting.
On the import control front, despite proactive changes 
to no longer allow the issuance of import allocation 
for the Canadian manufacturing of brochettes and 
meat-on-meat products, 6.8 million kg (Mkg) was still 
imported above the TRQ. Import control circumvention 
issues such as mislabeled spent fowl, the misuse of the 
Duties Relief Program, and the intentional creation of 
specially defined mixture products continue to hurt 
the Canadian industry; however Canadian chicken 
farmers are hopeful that action will be taken given the 
government’s announcement of its intention to close 
those loopholes.

FOOD SAFETY & ANIMAL CARE
Animal Care Program
The Chicken Farmers of Canada Animal Care Program 
(ACP) offers a national set of standards for consistency 
from coast to coast. Launched in 2009, the program 
continues to be a strong demonstration of our farmers’ 
commitment to high animal care standards. In 2015, 
the percentage of farmers certified on the program 
reached 97%. All provinces have made the decision to 
make it mandatory, with mandatory regulations already 
implemented in 9 provinces. 

GOVERNMENT RELATIONS
2015 was a busy year for Government Relations at 
Chicken Farmers of Canada! From developing and 
implementing a new strategy, to the Trans-Pacific 
Partnership (TPP) Agreement, to the federal election 
of Canada’s 42nd Parliament, staff and Board members 
worked diligently at ensuring the voices of Canada’s 
chicken farmers were heard on Parliament Hill.
Key activities for the year included:

�� Lobby Day

�� Federal Election Outreach

�� The Hill Times Agriculture Briefing

�� Federal, Provincial, and Territorial Meetings

�� Ongoing Trade Negotiations

TRADE & POLICY
Three notable events rounded out the 2015 trade 
year for Canada: the conclusion of the Trans-Pacific 
Partnership trade agreement negotiations, the repeal of 
the United States’ Country of Origin Labelling legislation 
on beef and pork imports, and the elimination of 
export subsidies as agreed to during the World Trade 
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National Farm Animal Care Council
The National Farm Animal Care Council (NFACC) is 
internationally unique, as it is the only organization that 
brings together animal welfare groups, enforcement, 
government, and farmers under a collective decision-
making model for advancing farm animal welfare. CFC is 
proud to be an NFACC member, with Rudy Martinka, the 
CFC Director from Saskatchewan, as our representative 
on the NFACC Board. 

Code of Practice review
While NFACC deals with a variety of animal care 
issues, the revision of the Code of Practice is by far the 
most important initiative. The Codes themselves are 
voluntary but CFC has been able to enforce the Code 
requirements through the ACP thanks to the system of 
supply management. The Code for the chicken industry 
was last revised in 2003 and CFC has been actively 
participating on the Code Development Committee 
throughout 2015 for this latest revision – both Rudy 
Martinka and Vernon Froese (MB) are members on the 
committee. 

National Farmed Animal Health and 
Welfare Council
The NFAHWC was formed in 2010 with the mandate 
to establish priorities and recommendations to align 
animal health and welfare activities across industry and 
government authorities. Marc Cormier, the Chicken 
Farmers of Canada Alternate Director from New 
Brunswick, represents CFC at the NFAHWC.

AMU
In 2015, the Canadian government released their 
Federal Action Plan on Antimicrobial Resistance and 
Use in Canada: Building on the Federal Framework for 
Action. This underscores the importance of this issue 
both in Canada and internationally, and the chicken 
industry has been proud to work with government on 
this and related initiatives throughout 2015. The Federal 
Action Plan outlines a number of goals for Canada in 
terms of antimicrobial use and resistance (AMU and 
AMR), and these dovetail with the many activities at 
CFC on this file. Based on CFC’s strategic plans set by the 
Board of Directors, AMU was a high priority for 2015 and 
has been identified as a critical priority for 2016.
Chicken Farmers of Canada, in collaboration with the 

entire poultry industry, have updated the industry AMU 
communication tool used to outline the sector-wide 
strategy on AMU and AMR. The Strategy focuses on the 
following 5 elements, reflecting the Federal Action Plan 
and providing continued confidence to consumers and 
government about responsible antimicrobial use in the 
poultry industry. 

Avian Influenza
In April this past year, the Canadian poultry and egg 
industries were faced with an avian influenza outbreak 
in southwestern Ontario. A total of three farms were 
infected (two turkey farms and one broiler breeder 
farm), all located in Oxford County. 

Industry and government partners worked together 
both locally and nationally to manage the situation. 
Quarantine zones were established, all three premises 
were depopulated to control the spread of disease, and 
cleaning and disinfecting (C&D) took place. 

The virus detected on these farms was highly pathogenic 
H5N2 and closely matches the strains identified in B.C. 
late in 2014 and in Washington State, U.S. This suggests 
that migratory wild birds were a likely source. Canada 
was able to notify the OIE that B.C. and Ontario are 
considered to be free of notifiable avian influenza on 
June 3, 2015 and October 8, 2015, respectively. 

On-Farm Food Safety Assurance 
Program
Chicken Farmers of Canada continues to implement 
the On-Farm Food Safety Assurance Program (OFFSAP) 
from coast to coast, and the percentage of certified 
producers remained at 100% for 2015. CFC is proud to 
maintain recognition for the program from the Canadian 
Food Inspection Agency (CFIA), and successfully 
completed the 20-month review audit in 2015. This 
provided confirmation from CFIA that the program 
remains current, technically sound, and consistently 
implemented.   

The OFFSAP program currently being implemented 
on-farms was updated in 2014 to reflect, among other 
things, the industry ban on the preventive use of 
Category I antibiotics. This is a mandatory requirement 
in the program and compliance is verified through the 
Flock Sheets which get submitted to CFIA with every 
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shipment of birds. This initiative has been successful, 
as monitoring has demonstrated that no Category I 
antibiotics have been used preventatively since the 
implementation date of May 2014.

BRANDING: RAISED BY A 
CANADIAN FARMER 
Chicken Farmers of Canada has launched a national 
program to promote Canadian chicken, following 
years of conducting proprietary market research 
among consumers, as well as participating in research 
conducted by other organizations. 

The research consistently showed that consumers 
are interested in a Canadian label; interest in buying 
chicken with a label indicating whether it’s Canadian 
or imported has increased significantly – 88% say it’s 
important that the chicken they eat is Canadian and 
80% would eat more chicken if it was clearly identified 
as Canadian. 

Canadian grocery shoppers perceive chicken as a 
healthy choice for their families and Canadians have 
a favourable view of farmers, higher than any other 
group or individual tested. Farmers have a strong role 
to play in increasing the spread and implementation of 
the brand program – by being able to directly address 
the value and importance of it to Canadians. 

The new “Raised by a Canadian Farmer” brand is a mark 
that shows Canadians where their chicken comes from 
and speaks to how it’s raised and who raises it. It also 
represents the high standards which farmers must 
follow as part of our mandatory on-farm programs for 
food safety and animal care. 

COMMUNICATIONS & 
OUTREACH
Chicken Farmers of Canada’s Consumer Relations 
Strategy is focused on meeting the information needs 
of our consumers, by providing them recipes, facts, and 
tools to make their experience with Canada’s favourite 
protein positive and exciting. We bring this information 
to them using a variety of conduits that enhance our 
credibility, make Chicken Farmers of Canada more 

accessible, and remind consumers of the importance of 
chicken as a healthy food choice.

Social Media Footprint
Social media, and the relationships built online, 
continues to be a core focus for Chicken Farmers of 
Canada to interact and reach consumers. On Twitter, the 
evening chicken Twitter parties were well attended and 
averaged an impression reach of 31 million people while 
the “chicken chats”, held during the day, made roughly 
20 million impressions. There has also been some 
good pickup of Chicken Farmers of Canada content as 
subscribers have jumped from 15,000 to over 30,000 
across all subscription lists. Pinterest, and Instagram, 
the two image-based social media are the top referring 
sites, usually to our recipes, where our 700+ recipes and 
high quality photography are a great draw for visitors.
Between Twitter Parties (evening) and Chicken Chats 
(daytime) the social media reach was almost 400 million 
impressions in total!

Swimming Canada
2015 marked a big year for our partnership with 
Swimming Canada. With the creation of the 
adorable Pool Peeps and the FINA World Swimming 
Championships in Russia, there was never a dull 
moment!

In July, Chicken Farmers of Canada and Swimming 
Canada announced an incentive program for the FINA 
World Championships. When a Canadian swimmer 
won a world championship medal, Chicken Farmers 
of Canada would donate $1,000 to that swimmer, and 
an additional $1,000 to a food bank of the medalist’s 
choice, for a total of $2,000 per medalist. As a result 
of the incentive program, $18,000 was provided to 
Canadian swimmers and their regional food banks.

PUBLIC RELATIONS: LOVE YOUR 
FARMER
2015 marked the third year of Chicken Farmers of 
Canada’s Public Relations (PR) strategy, which enjoyed 
many key accomplishments, both within the chicken 
sector, and jointly with other supply-management 
commodities. 
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Since its inception in 2013, the PR strategy has expanded 
to not only provide accurate, responsive, and timely 
information to consumers and media alike, but also as a 
platform to demonstrate to Canadians the importance 
of supply management, farming, and the hard-work 
chicken farmers do all year round. If one sentence could 
describe the goals and initiatives of this the PR program 
in 2015, it would be “Let’s Keep Chicken Canadian.”’

Consumer Research
This year, Chicken Farmers of Canada worked with 
consultants to conduct research into consumer 
behaviour and their perspectives on supply 
management. These results were used to craft the Keep 
Chicken Canadian campaign, along with TPP-related 
work. Highlights of this research included the following:

�� An overwhelming majority of Canadians preferred to 
feed their families food raised by Canadian farmers

�� A strong majority preferred to buy locally-grown 
products, even if it meant a higher cost

In addition, the research took a look at consumer 
behaviour and what influences their food selection, 
the importance put on having Canadian products, and 
the role of the Government when it comes to food and 
trade negotiations. The research found that a majority 
of Canadians felt it was important for the Government 
to support farmers during trade negotiations, as well as 
to help them stay strong and prosperous.

Keep Chicken Canadian Campaign
As a result of the TPP agreement, and negotiations 
around it, the Keep Chicken Canadian Campaign was 
launched. This particular campaign took a digital form, 
mainly using social media and online advertising as a 
method of promotion. The letter-writing campaign 
encouraged Canadians to raise their voices and show 
their support for chicken raised by Canadian farmers.  
The letter reached all party leaders and a majority of 
them responded to the submissions, outlining their 
opinions on the matter. This campaign ran for a month, 
garnering over a thousand submissions and over 5,000 
letters sent overall.
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2015 PRODUCTION STATISTICS

Sales Growth of "GROWN IN BC"
Chicken in Millions of Kilograms (Evisc Wt.)

1986

1989

1992

1995

1998

2001

2005
2008

2011

2004*

49,435,000 kg

62,730,000 kg

74,356,000 kg

100,233,058 kg

117,669,877 kg

141,059,793 kg

120,464,614 kg

154,374,498 kg
157,383,944 kg

155,079,027 kg

2014
160,944,862 kg

2015
159,960,771 kg

*(avian in�uenza)
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2015 BC Broiler Quota Marketing Periods
Amount of quota marketings going through licence agencies in 2015:

Period Start Date End Date Mainstream Quota Utilization

A-128 28-Dec-14 21-Feb-15 99.31%

A-129 22-Feb-15 18-Apr-15 99.82%

A-130 19-Apr-15 13-Jun-15 106.02%

A-131 14-Jun-15 8-Aug-15 102.46%

A-132 8-Aug-15 3-Oct-15 97.87%

A-133 3-Oct-15 28-Nov-15 109.95%

A-134 28-Nov-15 24-Jan-16 101.54%

Total Provincial Production (kilograms live weight)
Year Type Domestic Market Development Total

2015 Mainstream  201,626,192  9,497,752  211,123,944 

Broilers  196,785,679  9,404,770  206,190,449 

Organic  4,840,513  92,982  4,933,495 

Specialty  6,150,553  388,819  6,539,372 

TC  5,633,661  -    5,633,661 

Silkie  516,892  388,819  905,711 

Total  207,776,745  9,886,571  217,663,316 

Year Type Domestic Market Development Total

2014 Mainstream  198,925,786  14,323,940  213,249,726 

Broilers  194,610,911  14,070,610  208,681,521 

Organic  4,314,875  253,330  4,568,205 

Specialty  5,248,824  541,301  5,790,125 

TC  4,278,339  428,761  4,707,100 

Silkie  970,485  112,540  1,083,025 

Total  204,174,610  14,865,241  219,039,851 

In 2015 BC Produced 0.63% less than  in 2014
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Provincial Quota Holdings 2015 (kgs live weight/cycle)
Lower  Mainland Vancouver  Island Interior Total
Growers Kilograms Growers Kilograms Growers Kilograms Growers % Kilograms %

Mainstream 228 26,482,850 13  532,624 48 3,335,920 289 87%  30,351,394 97%

Specialty 43  930,752 0  -   0  -   43 13%  930,752 3%

Total 271 27,413,602 13  532,624 48 3,335,920 332 100%  31,282,146 100%

% 82% 88% 4% 2% 14% 11%

2,000 bird 
(annual)  
Permit 
Holders

38 61 86 185

We have 328 Registered growers as 4 growers hold both Mainstream and Specialty Quota. 

2015 BC Allocations received from CFC
Kg eviscerated weight

Period Domestic 
(Broiler and Organic)

Market Development 
(Broiler, Organic and Specialty)

Specialty Allocation 
(TC and Silkie)

TOTAL 
ALLOCATION

A-128  22,238,884  1,535,818  720,237  24,494,939 

A-129  23,260,229  1,370,589  819,941  25,450,759 

A-130  23,640,237  1,337,518  780,101  25,757,856 

A-131  23,244,475  1,250,077  678,151  25,172,703 

A-132  22,635,828  1,847,792  729,417  25,213,037 

A-133  23,356,951  1,171,317  526,354  25,054,622 

A-134  23,006,831  1,346,729  633,340  24,986,900 

2015 Provincial Farm Gate Sales
Mainstream - Broilers  $335,392,329.92 

Mainstream - Organic  $20,444,403.28 

Specialty (TC) $16,614,632.06 

Specialty (Silkie)  $3,699,182.50 

Total  $376,150,547.76 
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Quota Utilization by Province (A-128)
A-128 (Dec 28/14 - Feb 21/15)

Province Allocation Production %

BC 33,310,982 32,836,768 98.6%

Alta. 20,109,437 20,254,308 100.7%

Sask. 8,655,789 8,712,746 100.7%

Man. 9,153,857 9,605,683 104.9%

Ont. 73,065,962 72,374,011 99.1%

Que. 60,696,709 61,669,575 101.6%

N.B. 6,026,010 6,296,465 104.5%

N.S. 7,493,386 7,422,118 99.0%

P.E.I. 810,419 766,585 94.6%

Nfld. 2,963,663 2,877,313 97.1%

Canada 222,286,214 222,815,572 100.2%

Quota Utilization by Province (A-129)
A-129 (Feb 22 - Apr 18/15)

Province Allocation Production %

BC 32,996,594 33,973,204 103.0%

Alta. 20,570,253 20,837,672 101.3%

Sask. 9,011,554 8,833,651 98.0%

Man. 9,535,070 9,849,545 103.3%

Ont. 75,501,300 76,605,728 101.5%

Que. 61,762,159 62,238,244 100.8%

N.B. 6,169,020 6,170,255 100.0%

N.S. 7,665,719 7,767,066 101.3%

P.E.I. 810,163 781,442 96.5%

Nfld. 3,072,565 3,043,695 99.1%

Canada 227,094,397 230,100,502 101.3%

Quota Utilization by Province (A-130)
A-130 (Apr 19 - June 13/15)

Province Allocation Production %

BC 34,199,470 34,133,941 99.8%

Alta. 21,643,269 21,617,841 99.9%

Sask. 9,031,987 8,776,902 97.2%

Man. 9,724,938 9,823,001 101.0%

Ont. 77,288,761 77,385,346 100.1%

Que. 64,722,307 65,063,895 100.5%

N.B. 6,445,144 6,552,594 101.7%

N.S. 8,003,620 7,934,037 99.1%

P.E.I. 816,178 831,365 101.9%

Nfld. 3,098,214 3,053,421 98.6%

Canada 234,973,888 235,172,343 100.1%

Quota Utilization by Province (A-131)
A-131 (Jun 14 - Aug 8/15)

Province Allocation Production %

BC 34,153,235 32,965,528 96.5%

Alta. 20,970,601 20,749,619 98.9%

Sask. 9,009,001 8,538,576 94.8%

Man. 9,697,016 9,874,945 101.8%

Ont. 75,793,877 75,840,144 100.1%

Que. 62,589,670 62,490,463 99.8%

N.B. 6,284,727 6,278,245 99.9%

N.S. 8,005,682 8,035,214 100.4%

P.E.I. 812,256 762,945 93.9%

Nfld. 3,078,539 2,993,082 97.2%

Canada 230,394,604 228,528,761 99.2%

The following is the Chicken Farmers of Canada 2015 total provincial quota allocation and the actual 
utilization levels (kgs live weight)
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Quota Utilization by Province (A-132)
A-132 (Aug 9 - Oct 3/15)

Province Allocation Production %

BC 33,383,120 33,071,796 99.1%

Alta. 20,873,027 21,296,520 102.0%

Sask. 9,043,781 8,680,947 96.0%

Man. 9,644,290 9,460,279 98.1%

Ont. 74,354,698 74,261,606 99.9%

Que. 63,206,025 62,016,433 98.1%

N.B. 6,227,350 6,208,220 99.7%

N.S. 7,748,984 7,635,941 98.5%

P.E.I. 813,249 809,767 99.6%

Nfld. 3,083,574 3,176,109 103.0%

Canada 228,378,098 226,617,618 99.2%

Quota Utilization by Province (A-134)
A-134 Nov 28/15 - Jan 24/16)

Province Allocation Production %

BC 33,800,407 32,706,907 96.8%

Alta. 21,522,375 21,577,121 100.3%

Sask. 8,927,277 9,046,077 101.3%

Man. 9,464,383 9,393,889 99.3%

Ont. 74,479,064 74,794,424 100.4%

Que. 62,091,803 62,075,669 100.0%

N.B. 6,099,558 6,136,133 100.6%

N.S. 7,624,552 7,737,775 101.5%

P.E.I. 842,016 837,693 99.5%

Nfld. 2,999,471 2,769,787 92.3%

Canada 227,850,906 227,075,475 99.7%

Total Quota Utilization by Province
TOTAL (A-128 to A-134)

Province Allocation Production %

BC 202,135,961 200,437,764 99.2%

Alta. 126,001,546 126,829,473 100.7%

Sask. 53,734,268 52,635,952 98.0%

Man. 125,037,569 126,009,076 100.8%

Ont. 441,618,849 442,112,523 100.1%

Que. 320,524,064 321,739,591 100.4%

N.B. 37,427,078 37,737,394 100.8%

N.S. 46,761,039 46,892,958 100.3%

P.E.I. 4,904,398 4,796,174 97.8%

Nfld. 18,458,676 18,184,959 98.5%

Canada 1,604,078,705 1,603,655,056 100.0%

Quota Utilization by Province (A-133)
A-133 (Oct 4 - Nov 28/15)

Province Allocation Production %

BC 34,092,560 33,456,527 98.1%

Alta. 21,834,959 22,073,513 101.1%

Sask. 8,982,156 9,093,130 101.2%

Man. 9,690,653 9,885,222 102.0%

Ont. 76,685,821 76,421,937 99.7%

Que. 63,691,720 64,198,850 100.8%

N.B. 6,274,827 6,231,615 99.3%

N.S. 7,843,648 8,098,582 103.3%

P.E.I. 842,133 844,070 100.2%

Nfld. 3,162,121 3,041,339 96.2%

Canada 233,100,598 233,344,785 100.1%

Source:  CFC and AAFC (AAFC data where CFC data is incomplete)   
The Allocation information above includes all inter-provindial quota transfers and revisions to market development/
export commitments.
Note: Allocation includes both domestic and market development. Production is all birds processed in each province.
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Provincial Production of Chicken 2013-2015
Production from Jan. 1 to Dec. 31, 2013  - 2015 (eviscerated weight)

Province 2015 2014 15/14 2013 14/13

B.C. 159,139,416 160,795,495 -1.0% 156,557,531 2.7%

Alberta 101,336,060 94,340,967 7.4% 93,286,734 1.1%

Saskatchewan 41,985,522 41,193,133 1.9% 41,379,917 -0.5%

Manitoba 46,433,035 44,624,622 4.1% 43,197,617 3.3%

Western 348,894,033 340,954,217 2.3% 334,421,799 2.0%

Ontario 363,875,359 347,427,297 4.7% 337,861,802 2.8%

Quebec 301,909,754 294,817,196 2.4% 289,662,439 1.8%

Central 665,785,113 642,244,493 3.7% 627,524,241 2.3%

New Brunswick 29,769,129 29,950,530 -0.6% 28,470,070 5.2%

Nova Scotia 37,455,665 36,465,319 2.7% 36,014,148 1.3%

P.E.I. 3,755,535 3,788,682 -0.9% 3,802,502 -0.4%

Newfoundland 14,380,109 14,280,344 0.7% 13,925,651 2.5%

Atlantic 85,360,438 84,484,875 1.0% 82,212,371 2.8%

TOTAL 1,100,039,584 1,067,683,585 3.0% 1,044,158,411 2.3%
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Filing a Regulated Marketing Appeal 
with the B.C. Farm Industry Review Board
A person aggrieved or dissatisfied with an order, 
decision or determination of the following commodity 
marketing boards and commissions may file an appeal 
to the British Columbia Farm Industry Review Board 
(BCFIRB):

British Columbia Broiler Hatching Egg Commission
British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
British Columbia Cranberry Marketing Commission
British Columbia Egg Marketing Board
British Columbia Hog Marketing Commission
British Columbia Milk Marketing Board
British Columbia Turkey Marketing Board
British Columbia Vegetable Marketing Commission

WHAT IS THE BRITISH COLUMBIA 
FARM INDUSTRY REVIEW 
BOARD?
The British Columbia Farm Industry Review Board 
(BCFIRB) is an administrative tribunal that has statutory 
responsibility for exercising regulatory and adjudicative 
functions independent of government in its general 
supervision of BC regulated marketing Boards and 
commissions and in hearing regulated marketing 
appeals and farm practices complaints.

Originally known as the British Columbia Marketing 
Board (“BCMB”), BCFIRB was created in1934 under the 
NPMA to supervise the commodity Boards. Over the 
years, the role has been expanded and its authority 
redefined to address changes in the regulated marketing 
sector. BCFIRB is composed of up to ten members 
appointed by Lieutenant Governor-in-Council (LGIC). 
Board members backgrounds vary, with experience in 
production, marketing, law and education related to 
agricultural issues.

HOW LONG DO I HAVE TO 
APPEAL?
BCFIRB must receive your written notice of appeal not 
more than thirty (30) days after the order, decision or 
determination of the commodity Board or commission 
is made.

If an appeal is filed more than 30 days after the 
marketing Board’s decision, the person filing the notice 
of appeal must explain what special circumstances exist 
that warrant BCFIRB accepting a late appeal (See ATA 
s.24).

DO I NEED LEGAL COUNSEL?
Only if you want or think you need it. It is your decision 
to make, and you will be responsible for paying your 
own lawyer.

Where do I send the appeal?
Either by mail, courier, fax or email as follows:

Mail:
Attention: Executive Director
British Columbia Farm Industry Review Board
PO Box 9129 Stn Prov Govt
Victoria BC V8W 9B5

Courier:
Attention: Executive Director
British Columbia Farm Industry Review Board
780 Blanshard Street
Victoria BC V8W 2H1

Email: 
firb@gov.bc.ca 

Fax: 
250-356-5131
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WHAT SHOULD BE INCLUDED IN 
THE NOTICE OF APPEAL?
The notice of appeal must be accompanied by a non-
refundable $100.00 filing fee. Cheque or money orders 
should be made out to the “Minister of Finance”.

The notice of appeal must include the following:
�� be in writing and signed

�� identify the decision being appealed

�� state why the decision should be changed

�� state the outcome requested from BCFIRB

�� include your name, address, telephone number, 
email (or the contact information of the person 
handling appeal for you)

�� include an address for delivery of any notices related 
to the appeal

BCFIRB’s notice of appeal form can be used to file an 
appeal.

WHAT HAPPENS WHEN THE 
BRITISH COLUMBIA FARM 
INDUSTRY REVIEW BOARD 
RECEIVES THE APPEAL?
BCFIRB will send you a letter acknowledging the receipt 
of your appeal. This letter will also contain information 
which explains the appeal process in greater detail. At 
the same time, BCFIRB will notify the commodity Board 
or commission concerned that an appeal has been filed 
and instruct them of their responsibilities as outlined in 
the Rules of Practice and Procedures.

BCFIRB will also ensure that the commodity Board 
or commission has received a copy of your notice of 
appeal. BCFIRB will issue notice to the parties requiring 
them to attend a pre-hearing conference call. The 
purpose of the pre-hearing conference will be to clarify 
the issue on appeal and determine the position of each 
party as well as the remedies sought by the appellant. 
The pre-hearing conference call will also be used to 
confirm hearing dates and directions for the appeal 
hearing.

BCFIRB encourages parties to consider Alternative 
Dispute Resolution (ADR) to facilitate settlements of 
the matter under appeal and will assist the parties 
in establishing an ADR process. Parties can apply to 
BCFIRB requesting ADR. Discussions about possible 
ADR alternatives will also be an agenda item for the pre-
hearing conference.

The hearing of your appeal will normally be held not 
more than 60 days after BCFIRB first receives your notice 
of appeal; however, these timelines will be dependent 
upon the circumstances of all the parties to the appeal. 

WHAT IS THE MOST IMPORTANT 
THING FOR ME TO REMEMBER? 
BCFIRB must receive your written notice of appeal 
within 30 days of an order, decision or determination of 
the commodity board or commission. Failure to meet 
this deadline may result in BCFIRB not hearing your 
appeal.

HOW CAN I GET MORE 
INFORMATION?
For further information please refer to the Rules of 
Practice and Procedures. Section 8 of the Natural 
Products Marketing (BC) Act(NPMA), and the 
Administrative Tribunals Act (ATA).

More information on the appeal process is available on 
BCFIRB’s website at: 
www.gov.bc.ca/BCFarmIndustryReviewBoard 

The standing orders of the commodity Board or 
commission involved may also contain information. 

Should you have any further questions please feel 
free to contact BCFIRB directly at: 

Phone: 250 356-8945 
Fax: 250 356-5131 
Email: firb@gov.bc.ca

Updated 2016
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Management's Responsibility

To the Members of British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board:

Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the accompanying financial statements, including responsibility for
significant accounting judgments and estimates in accordance with accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations and ensuring
that all information in the annual report is consistent with the statements. This responsibility includes selecting appropriate accounting
principles and methods, and making decisions affecting the measurement of transactions in which objective judgment is required.

In discharging its responsibilities for the integrity and fairness of the financial statements, management designs and maintains the
necessary accounting systems and related internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are authorized, assets
are safeguarded and financial records are properly maintained to provide reliable information for the preparation of financial statements.

The British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board and Finance and Audit Committee of the British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board are
composed entirely of Members who are neither management nor employees of the Board. The Board is responsible for overseeing
management in the performance of its financial reporting responsibilities, and for approving the financial information included in the
annual report. The Board fulfils these responsibilities by reviewing the financial information prepared by management and discussing
relevant matters with management and external auditors. The Committee is also responsible for recommending the appointment of the
Board's external auditors.

MNP LLP is appointed by the members to audit the financial statements and report directly to them; their report follows. The external
auditors have full and free access to, and meet periodically and separately with, both the Committee and management to discuss their
audit findings.

March 29, 2016

Executive Director
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Members of British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board:

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board, which comprise the statement of
financial position as at December 31, 2015, and the statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of British Columbia Chicken
Marketing Board as at December 31, 2015 and the results of its operations, changes in net assets and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Abbotsford, British Columbia

March 29, 2016 Chartered Professional Accountants

300 - 32988 South Fraser Way, Abbotsford, British Columbia, V2S 2A8, Phone: (604) 853-9471, 1 (877)853-9471
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Statement of Financial Position

As at December 31, 2015

2015 2014

Assets
Current

Cash and cash equivalents 854,125 901,854
Accounts receivable 617,784 494,492
Prepaid expenses 42,296 55,545

1,514,205 1,451,891

Capital assets (Note 3) 77,082 63,411

Investments restricted for contingency fund (Note 4) 2,468,808 2,420,396

4,060,095 3,935,698

Liabilities
Current

Accounts payable and accruals 256,114 295,011
Government remittances payable 19,154 15,169
Deferred revenue - 30,651

275,268 340,831

Commitments (Note 5)

Contingencies (Note 6)

Net Assets
Invested in capital assets 77,082 63,411
Restricted for contingency fund 2,468,808 2,420,396
Unrestricted 1,238,937 1,111,060

3,784,827 3,594,867

4,060,095 3,935,698

Approved on behalf of the Board

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Statement of Operations

For the year ended December 31, 2015

2015 2014

Revenues
Grower assessments (Note 7) 4,134,611 3,632,503
Over marketing levies 327,691 293,755
Domestic lease income 194,693 657,721
IAF funding 97,769 25,697
Interest and sundry 68,268 71,962
Licenses 7,980 8,120
Permit fees 4,065 2,100

4,835,077 4,691,858

Operational Expenses (Schedule 1) 3,922,689 3,898,245

Excess revenues over expenses 912,388 793,613

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Statement of Changes in Net Assets

For the year ended December 31, 2015

Invested in
capital assets

Restricted for
Contingency

fund

Unrestricted 2015 2014

Net assets, beginning of year 63,411 2,420,396 1,111,060 3,594,867 3,609,508

Excess revenues over expenses (18,200) - 930,588 912,388 793,613

Distribution of prior year's surplus (Note 9) - - (722,428) (722,428) (808,254)

Purchase of capital assets 31,871 - (31,871) - -

Income earned on restricted assets - 48,412 (48,412) - -

Net assets, end of year 77,082 2,468,808 1,238,937 3,784,827 3,594,867

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended December 31, 2015

2015 2014

Cash provided by (used for) the following activities
Operating

Excess revenues over expenses 912,388 793,613
Accrued interest income adjustment 25,438 26,367
Amortization 18,200 14,407
Loss on disposal of capital assets - 1,059

956,026 835,446
Changes in working capital accounts

Accounts receivable (123,292) (2,743)
Prepaid expenses 13,249 (14,621)
Accounts payable and accruals (38,897) (269,006)
Government remittances payable 3,985 (2,393)
Deferred revenue (30,651) (3,752)

780,420 542,931

Financing
Distribution of prior year's operating surplus to growers (722,428) (808,254)

Investing
Purchase of capital assets (31,871) (14,600)
Purchase of investment restricted for contingency fund (73,850) (74,859)

(105,721) (89,459)

Decrease in cash resources (47,729) (354,782)
Cash resources, beginning of year 901,854 1,256,636

Cash resources, end of year 854,125 901,854

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2015

1. Organization

The British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board ("the Board") was established in 1961 by the Natural Products Marketing
(British Columbia) Act to promote, control and regulate the transportation, processing, packing, storage, and marketing of all
classes of chicken in British Columbia. The Board is a non-profit agricultural organization and is exempt from income taxes
pursuant to subsection 149(1)(e) of the Income Tax Act.

2. Significant accounting policies

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit
organizations set out in Part III of the CPA Canada Handbook - Accounting, as issued by the Accounting Standards Board
in Canada, and include the following significant accounting policies:

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and term deposits with banks. Term deposits subject to restrictions that
prevent its use for current purposes are included in investments restricted for contingency fund.

Capital assets

Purchased capital assets are recorded at cost.

Amortization is provided using the declining balance method at rates intended to amortize the cost of assets over their
estimated useful lives.

Rate
Computer hardware 30 %
Computer software 100 %
Furniture and office equipment 10 %
Website 20 %

In the year of purchase, capital assets are amortized at one half of the regular rate. No amortization is recorded for capital
assets acquired but not put into service at year-end.

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the remaining life of the lease agreement at the time the leasehold
improvement is purchased. Therefore, the assets are amortized over a period of 1 to 5 years.

Long-lived assets

Long-lived assets consist of capital assets. Long-lived assets held for use are measured and amortized as described in the
applicable accounting policies.

The Board performs impairment testing on long-lived assets held for use whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of an asset, or group of assets, may not be recoverable. Impairment losses are recognized
when undiscounted future cash flows from its use and disposal are less than the asset’s carrying amount. Impairment is
measured as the amount by which the asset’s carrying value exceeds its fair value. Any impairment is included in the
statement of operations for the year.

Prices for similar items are used to measure fair value of long-lived assets.
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2015

2. Significant accounting policies (Continued from previous page)

Fund accounting

In order to ensure observance of limitations and restrictions placed on the use of resources available to the Board, the
accounts are maintained on a fund accounting basis. Accordingly, resources are classified for accounting and reporting
purposes into funds. These funds are held in accordance with the objectives specified by the contributors or in accordance
with the directives issued by the Board of Directors.

Unrestricted Fund
The Unrestricted Fund reports the revenues and expenses related to general and ancillary operations of the Board.

Capital Assets Fund
The Capital Assets Fund reports the Board’s capital assets and presents the flow of funds related to their acquisition and
disposal, unexpended capital resources and debt commitments.

Restricted Contingency Fund
The Restricted Contingency Fund is pursuant to Part 15 "Distribution of Board Operating Surplus" of the General Orders, to
which the Board has established a fund represented by cash and cash equivalents in the minimum amount of $2,000,000
and not to exceed one year of budgeted Board expenses, to be used to fund expenditures for unforeseen circumstances.
Any amount deemed to be in excess to the set level of the contingency will be distributed to growers in proportion to the
amount of the levy paid by a grower. The Board has reserved the right to change the amount required in the Restricted
Contingency Fund and/or the levy rate at any time. In order to qualify for a distribution a grower must be in good standing
and be a current grower with the Board at the time that a distribution is declared. Investment income generated will be re-
invested into the Restricted Contingency Fund.

Revenue recognition

Grower assessments are recognized as revenue when chickens are shipped to the processors and collectability is
reasonably assured. Over marketing levies in respect to quota usage during a production period are calculated and invoiced
to the grower approximately three weeks after the end of the production period. Over marketing levies are recognized on the
date of each individual grower’s shipment.

Domestic lease charges, payable to the Board in respect to quota usage during a production period, are invoiced in
accordance with part 43 of the August 26, 2011 General Orders.

Revenue from other sources are recorded when services are provided or revenue is received.

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period.

Accounts receivable are stated after evaluation as to their collectability and an appropriate allowance for doubtful accounts
is provided where considered necessary. Amortization is based on the estimated useful lives of capital assets.

These estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and, as adjustments become necessary they are reported in
excess of revenues and expenses in the periods in which they become known.
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2015

2. Significant accounting policies (Continued from previous page)

Financial instruments

The Board recognizes its financial instruments when the Board becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial
instrument. All financial instruments are initially recorded at their fair value, including financial assets and liabilities
originated and issued in a related party transaction with management. Financial assets and liabilities originated and issued
in all other related party transactions are initially measured at their carrying or exchange amount in accordance with Section
3840 Related Party Transactions (See Note 8).

At initial recognition, the Board may irrevocably elect to subsequently measure any financial instrument at fair value. The
Board has not made such an election during the year.

The Board subsequently measures investments in equity instruments quoted in an active market at fair value. Fair value is
determined by quoted price quotations. Investments in equity instruments not quoted in an active market are subsequently
measured at cost less impairment. All other financial assets and liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost.

Transaction costs and financing fees directly attributable to the origination, acquisition, issuance or assumption of financial
instruments subsequently measured at fair value are immediately recognized in the excess of revenues over expenses for
the current period. Conversely, transaction costs and financing fees are added to the carrying amount for those financial
instruments subsequently measured at cost or amortized cost.

3. Capital assets

2015 2014
Accumulated Net book Net book

Cost amortization value value

Computer hardware 204,962 186,399 18,563 23,528
Computer software 154,092 154,092 - -
Furniture and office equipment 343,251 315,448 27,803 30,893
Leasehold improvements 209,417 209,417 - -
Website 48,034 17,318 30,716 8,990

959,756 882,674 77,082 63,411

4. Investments restricted for contingency fund

Investments restricted for contingency fund consist of six term deposits which bear interest at 2.00%, maturing in June
2020. In the prior year, the investment restricted for contingency fund consisted of five term deposits which earned interest
at 2.00%, and matured in June 2015.
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2015

5. Commitments

(a) The Board leases office space with monthly rent of $4,724 (2014 - $4,631) until June 30, 2017, including triple net
expenses.

(b) The Board has entered into a contract to receive IT support with monthly fees of $2,100 (2014 - $2,100), until October
31, 2016. If the contract is not renewed at this date, a computer hardware buyout is required in the amount of $6,051.

(c) The Board has signed an agreement for grower dashboard program development and implementation with estimated
costs for 2016 of $61,000 plus GST ($10,000 paid up until December 31, 2015). Government funding to offset the costs
have been approved for 50% of the total eligible cash costs up to $39,750.

(d) The Board has signed an agreement for consulting services to update the pricing linkage between B.C. Broilers and
hatching egg producers, with costs for 2016 of $7,060 ($75,000 paid up until December 31, 2015).

(e) The Board has signed an agreement for succession planning services, with costs for 2016 of $2,600 plus GST ($2,730
paid up until December 31, 2015).

(f) The Board has signed an agreement for website redevelopment with estimated costs for 2016 of $5,800 ($13,524 paid
up until December 31, 2015).

(g) The Board has signed agreements for public relations support services and digital marketing and social media
management services with monthly costs of $1,250, which can be cancelled upon request.

(h) The Board has signed an agreement for crisis communication planning services with estimated costs for 2016 of $3,000
plus GST ($7,000 paid up until December 31, 2015).

(i) The Board has entered into three vehicle leases and two equipment leases with total scheduled payments (including GST
and PST) as follows:

2016 20,014
2017 20,014
2018 18,102
2019 1,636
2020 818
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2015

6. Contingencies

Unused credit facility

On April 6, 2004 the Board entered into a credit facility agreement with the Royal Bank of Canada which provides for the
following funding:

(a) $350,000 revolving facility for general operating requirements by way of Royal Bank loans. This facility bears interest at
bank prime lending rates plus 0.3% and is payable monthly. The borrowings under this facility are due on demand.

(b) $268,275 of letters of credit and guarantee to the Chicken Farmers of Canada ("CFC") for liquidated damages
pertaining to potential levies on excess production allocated to the province. The borrowings under this facility are due on
demand.

The agreement is secured by a general security agreement covering all assets of the Board, certified copies of Board
Members' resolutions authorizing the Board to borrow up to a maximum of $649,000 and an enforceable letter of
undertaking from the Board confirming that the number of birds placed on the farms will equal what the processors have
agreed to purchase.

The agreement contains certain covenants in respect to levies imposed on growers, regulation of the placement of birds
with processors and provision of weekly production reports.

The effective date of the credit facility agreement is December 9, 2009.

7. Grower assessments

The levy on all growers is 1.90 cents (2014 - 1.90) per kilogram, live weight on all chicken grown in British Columbia which
is inclusive of the CFC service fee. Of the levy assessed, 0.53 cents (2014 - 0.53) is remitted to the CFC for services
provided.

8. Related party transactions

The following related party transactions have occurred during the year:

The operating grant totaling $338,463 (2014 - $418,587) and rent expense of $60,000 (2014 - $60,000) were paid to the
British Columbia Chicken Growers Association ("BCCGA"), incorporated under the Society Act of British Columbia. As at
the year ended December 31, 2015 the BCCGA had a surplus of revenue over expenditures of $49,741 (2014 - $2,618)
which was returned to the Board reducing the operating grant from $438,205 to $388,464 (included in accounts receivable).
The operating grant was further reduced from $388,464 to $338,463 due to the Board recovering $50,001 of funding that
had been deposited into the BC Poultry Captive Insurance Company.

The BCCGA's mandate is to unite commercial chicken growers for the betterment of the industry and act as a liaison
between the chicken growers, marketing boards, industry and government. It is primarily funded by a grant from the Board
which approves the Association's annual operating budget.

These transactions were in the normal course of operations and were measured at the exchange amount, which is the
amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended December 31, 2015

9. Distribution of prior years' surplus

The Board distributes a surplus to growers based upon the total surplus calculated as select current assets less select
current liabilities and deferred revenue at year-end less one month's budgeted operating expenses. The following outlines
the funds that were distributed to growers in good standing and were based on the total kilograms of chicken shipped by the
growers in the year the surplus occurred:

2015 $ 722,428

2014 $ 808,254

2013 $1,280,760

2012 $ 927,158

2011 $ 500,894

10. Trust assets and liabilities

As at December 31, 2015 the Board held funds in trust with respect to the New Entrants Program for Growers. Trust assets
held totaled $45,000 (2014 - $25,000).

11. Financial instruments

The Board, as part of its operations, carries a number of financial instruments. It is management's opinion that the Board is
not exposed to significant interest, currency, credit, liquidity or other price risks arising from these financial instruments
except as otherwise disclosed.

Credit concentration

As at December 31, 2015, five processors (2014 - five) accounted for 50% (2014 - 52%) of trade accounts receivable. The
Board believes that there is no unusual exposure associated with the collection of these receivables. The Board performs
regular credit assessments of its customers and provides allowances for potentially uncollectible accounts receivable.

12. Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with current year presentation.
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British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
Schedule 1 - Schedule of Operational Expenses

For the year ended December 31, 2015

2015 2014

Operational Expenses
Advertising and promotion 111,953 92,043
Amortization 18,200 14,407
BC Chicken Growers Association (Note 8) 338,463 418,587
Bank charges and interest 7,206 6,835
Board members' remuneration, travel and meals 483,103 498,106
Chicken Farmers of Canada levy (Note 7) 1,154,076 1,085,635
Computer installation and consulting 75,341 62,001
Consulting fees 92,994 60,310
Dues, memberships and subscriptions 13,263 13,775
Insurance 5,676 5,509
Loss on disposal of capital assets - 1,060
National overproduction penalty - 61,056
New entrant program 1,440 2,250
Office supplies and stationary 71,873 70,102
PPAC 4,441 2,763
Postage 9,801 12,005
Poultry biosecurity 4,303 102,621
Professional fees 87,273 44,391
Rent (Note 8) 115,136 113,866
Repairs and maintenance 13,238 12,649
SMAC 37,000 54,884
Salaries and benefits 926,460 886,381
Staff travel 95,193 71,621
Strategic plan initiative 235,119 187,058
Telephone 21,137 18,330

3,922,689 3,898,245
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OPERATING 
BUDGET 2016
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BC Chicken Growers Association Operating 
Budget 2016
Revenue

BCCMB Operating Grant 559,455.00 

Rental Income BCCMB Office 60,000.00 

Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barns 20,000.00 

Total Revenue 639,455.00 

Expenses

Annual Picnics, Dinners, BC Poultry 
Conference

120,000.00 

Audit, Legal, Consulting, Strat Planning 95,500.00 

BCCGA Director Expenses 195,400.00 

BCCMB Office Building 20,005.00 

BC Poultry Association Dues 50,000.00 

Poultry in Motion Operating Expenses 166,100.00 

Secretaries 66,000.00 

Operations 31,450.00 

Total Expenses 744,455.00 

BC Chicken Growers Association Operating Budget 
2016

Revenue

Revenue - BCCMB 559,455.00

Rental Income 60,000.00

Grant Income

Trailer - Operating Revenue 0.00

Int. Trailer - Operating Revenue 0.00

Interest Income

BCBHEPA Trailer Operation Cost Sh. 10,000.00

Turkey/Egg Assoc trailer funding 10,000.00

Other income

Total Revenue 639,455.00 

Expenses

Payroll Expenses

Directors Per Diem 142,000.00

Per Diem - Trailer 65,000.00

Per Diem - Interior Trailer 16,000.00

Secretaries' Honorarium 66,000.00

Per diem non directors 1,000.00

CPP Expense 5,000.00

WCB Expense 400.00

Total Payroll Expenses 744,455.00 

General & Administrative Expenses

Audit 5,500.00

Advertising & Promotions 5,000.00

Trailer - operating expenses 73,000.00

Int. Trailer - operating expenses 10,000.00

Annual picnics, dinners 14,000.00

BC Poultry Conference 105,000.00

Conferences & Seminars 3,000.00

Dues & Subscriptions 3,500.00

Insurance - directors 1,300.00

Insurance - trailers 2,100.00

Interest & Bank Charges 100.00

Office Supplies & Postage 2,800.00

Property Taxes 9,800.00

Legal Fees 35,000.00

Consulting Fees - managerial 10,000.00

Consulting fees - projects 25,000.00

Strategic Planning 20,000.00

Repairs & Maintenance 0.00

Meeting & Refreshments 4,000.00

Telephone & Fax 1,750.00

Strata Fees 10,205.00

BC Poultry Association 50,000.00

Travel & Meals 48,000.00

Donations 10,000.00

Total General & Admin. Expenses 449,055.00

TOTAL EXPENSE 744,455.00

NET INCOME (LOSS) -105,000.00

Note:    
$80,000 of the $105,000 budgeted for the BC Poultry 
Conference and $25,000 budgeted for Consulting Fees - 
projects to come from funds already held by the BCCGA. 
 

Annual Picnics, Dinners, 
BC Poultry Conference

16%

Audit, Legal,
Consulting,

Strat Planning

13%

BCCGA Director Expenses
26%

BCCMB
Office Building 

3%
BC Poultry

Association Dues

7%

Poultry in Motion
Operating Expenses

22%

Secretaries

9% Operations

4%
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FUNDING AND USE REPORT - 2015
See below for BC Chicken Grower’s Association - Budget 
analysis for 2015 Annual Budget

Total
2015               

$

Total
2014               

$

Total 
Variance           

$

2015 2014 Variance 2015 2014 Variance 2015 2014 Variance 2015 2014 Variance 2015 2014 Variance 2015 2014 Variance 2015 2014 Variance 2015 2014 Variance 2015 2014 Variance

Revenues:

BCCMB Operating Revenue 444,083     421,205     22,878       -         -       -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       444,083    421,205  22,878    
Rental Income 60,000      60,000       -            -         -       -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       60,000     60,000    -          
Poultry in Motion 22,905      21,602       1,303         22,905   21,602   1,303   -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       -           -          
Grant Income 28,037      37,125       9,088-         28,037   37,125   9,088-   
BCAC Rebate 1,036        1,300         264-           -         -       -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       1,036       1,300      264-         
Interest Income 1,592        1,660         68-             1,660      1,660-      
BCCMB Operating Surplus 99,742-      2,618-         97,124-       2,618-      2,618      

-       -        -       -       -        -       -       -       -          
Expenses: -       -        -       -       -        -       -       -       -          

-       -        -       -       -        -       -       -       -          
Directors Per Diem 171,184     147,812     23,372       20,542   17,737   2,805   34,237   29,562   4,674    22,254    19,216  3,038   8,559     7,391    1,168   17,118  14,781  2,337    17,118  14,781  2,337   34,237   29,562   4,675    8,559    7,391    1,168   8,559       7,391      1,168      
Secretaries' Honorarium 64,698      63,341       1,357         12,940   12,668   271      12,940   12,668   272       6,470      6,334   136      3,235     3,167    68        3,235    3,167    68         3,235   3,167    68        3,235    3,167    68         9,705    9,501    204      9,705       9,502      203         
Per Diem Non Directors 26,859      33,240       6,381-         24,173   29,916   5,743-   1,612     1,994     383-       1,074      1,330   255-      -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       -           -          
Audit/Legal/Consulting 53,340      26,712       26,628       -         -       2,667     1,336     1,331    2,667      1,336   1,331   2,667     1,336    1,331   2,667    1,336    1,331    2,667   1,336    1,331   37,338   18,696   18,642  2,667    1,336    1,331   -           -          
Advertising & Promotions 1,257        8,927         7,670-         754        5,356    4,602-   251        1,785     1,534-    251        1,785   1,534-   -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       -           -          
PiM Operating expenses 26,882      21,203       5,679         26,882   21,203   5,679   -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       -           -          
AGM/Ann. Dinners/Picnics 18,118      22,225       4,107-         -         -       10,871   13,335   2,464-    4,530      5,557   1,028-   906        1,111    205-      -        -        906      1,111    205-      906       1,111    205-       -        -       -           -          
Conferences & Seminars 1,581        1,676         95-             158        167       9-          158        167        9-           158        167      9-          158        167       9-          237       252       15-         237      252       15-        237       252       15-         237       252       15-        -           -          
Dues & Subscription -            91             91-             -         -       -        -            -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        91         91-        -           -          
Insurance 3,216        2,909         307           1,930     1,745    184      -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       1,286    1,164    123      -           -          
Office/Bank expenses 1,891        3,200         1,309-         189        320       131-      756        1,280     524-       189        320      131-      189        320       131-      -        -        189      320       131-      189       320       131-       189       320       131-      -           -          
Property Taxes 8,720        9,648         928-           -         -       -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       8,720       9,648      928-         
Meetings/Refreshments 4,795        3,784         1,011         480        378       102      1,199     946        253       240        189      51        240        189       51        240       189       51         -       -       2,398    1,893    505       -        -       -           -          
Telephone/Fax/Internet/Conf. Call 1,493        1,226         267           373        307       66        373        307        132       149        123      26        75          61         14        75         61         14         75        61         14        373       306       67         -        -       -           -          
Strata Fees 10,205      10,205       -            -         -       -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       10,205     10,205    -          
BC Poultry Assn 59,819      60,104       285-           2,991     3,005    14-        5,982     6,010     28-         8,973      9,016   43-        8,973     9,016    43-        14,955  15,026  71-         14,955  15,026  71-        2,991    3,005    14-         -        -       -           -          
Travel & Meals 45,257      40,353       4,904         2,263     2,018    245      9,051     8,071     981       6,789      6,053   736      4,526     4,035    491      4,526    4,035    491       6,789   6,053    736      11,314   10,089   1,225    -        -       -           -          
Donations 5,474        3,750         1,724         1,095     750       345      1,095     750        345       1,095      750      345      -        -       -        -        2,190   1,500    690      -        -       -        -       -           -          

-       -        -       -       -        -       -       -       -          
Total Revenue 457,911     540,274     (82,363)      50,942   58,727   (7,785)  -            -            -            -             -           -           -            -           -           -           -           -            -           -           -           -            -            -           -            -           -           505,119    481,547  23,572    
Total Expense 504,789     460,406     44,383       94,769   95,571   (802)     81,192   78,212   3,046    54,838    52,175  2,664   29,527   26,793  2,734   43,052  38,847  4,205    48,360  43,607  4,753   93,218   68,401   24,817  22,644   20,055  2,589   37,189     36,746    443         
Net (46,878)     79,868       (126,746)    (43,827)  (36,844) (6,983)  (81,192)  (78,212)  (3,046)   (54,838)   (52,175) (2,664)  (29,527)  (26,793) (2,734)  (43,052) (38,847) (4,205)   (48,360) (43,607) (4,753)  (93,218) (68,401) (24,817) (22,644) (20,055) (2,589)  467,930    444,801  23,129    
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Revenues:

BCCMB Operating Revenue 444,083     421,205     22,878       -         -       -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       444,083    421,205  22,878    
Rental Income 60,000      60,000       -            -         -       -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       60,000     60,000    -          
Poultry in Motion 22,905      21,602       1,303         22,905   21,602   1,303   -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       -           -          
Grant Income 28,037      37,125       9,088-         28,037   37,125   9,088-   
BCAC Rebate 1,036        1,300         264-           -         -       -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       1,036       1,300      264-         
Interest Income 1,592        1,660         68-             1,660      1,660-      
BCCMB Operating Surplus 99,742-      2,618-         97,124-       2,618-      2,618      

-       -        -       -       -        -       -       -       -          
Expenses: -       -        -       -       -        -       -       -       -          

-       -        -       -       -        -       -       -       -          
Directors Per Diem 171,184     147,812     23,372       20,542   17,737   2,805   34,237   29,562   4,674    22,254    19,216  3,038   8,559     7,391    1,168   17,118  14,781  2,337    17,118  14,781  2,337   34,237   29,562   4,675    8,559    7,391    1,168   8,559       7,391      1,168      
Secretaries' Honorarium 64,698      63,341       1,357         12,940   12,668   271      12,940   12,668   272       6,470      6,334   136      3,235     3,167    68        3,235    3,167    68         3,235   3,167    68        3,235    3,167    68         9,705    9,501    204      9,705       9,502      203         
Per Diem Non Directors 26,859      33,240       6,381-         24,173   29,916   5,743-   1,612     1,994     383-       1,074      1,330   255-      -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       -           -          
Audit/Legal/Consulting 53,340      26,712       26,628       -         -       2,667     1,336     1,331    2,667      1,336   1,331   2,667     1,336    1,331   2,667    1,336    1,331    2,667   1,336    1,331   37,338   18,696   18,642  2,667    1,336    1,331   -           -          
Advertising & Promotions 1,257        8,927         7,670-         754        5,356    4,602-   251        1,785     1,534-    251        1,785   1,534-   -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       -           -          
PiM Operating expenses 26,882      21,203       5,679         26,882   21,203   5,679   -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       -           -          
AGM/Ann. Dinners/Picnics 18,118      22,225       4,107-         -         -       10,871   13,335   2,464-    4,530      5,557   1,028-   906        1,111    205-      -        -        906      1,111    205-      906       1,111    205-       -        -       -           -          
Conferences & Seminars 1,581        1,676         95-             158        167       9-          158        167        9-           158        167      9-          158        167       9-          237       252       15-         237      252       15-        237       252       15-         237       252       15-        -           -          
Dues & Subscription -            91             91-             -         -       -        -            -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        91         91-        -           -          
Insurance 3,216        2,909         307           1,930     1,745    184      -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       1,286    1,164    123      -           -          
Office/Bank expenses 1,891        3,200         1,309-         189        320       131-      756        1,280     524-       189        320      131-      189        320       131-      -        -        189      320       131-      189       320       131-       189       320       131-      -           -          
Property Taxes 8,720        9,648         928-           -         -       -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       8,720       9,648      928-         
Meetings/Refreshments 4,795        3,784         1,011         480        378       102      1,199     946        253       240        189      51        240        189       51        240       189       51         -       -       2,398    1,893    505       -        -       -           -          
Telephone/Fax/Internet/Conf. Call 1,493        1,226         267           373        307       66        373        307        132       149        123      26        75          61         14        75         61         14         75        61         14        373       306       67         -        -       -           -          
Strata Fees 10,205      10,205       -            -         -       -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       10,205     10,205    -          
BC Poultry Assn 59,819      60,104       285-           2,991     3,005    14-        5,982     6,010     28-         8,973      9,016   43-        8,973     9,016    43-        14,955  15,026  71-         14,955  15,026  71-        2,991    3,005    14-         -        -       -           -          
Travel & Meals 45,257      40,353       4,904         2,263     2,018    245      9,051     8,071     981       6,789      6,053   736      4,526     4,035    491      4,526    4,035    491       6,789   6,053    736      11,314   10,089   1,225    -        -       -           -          
Donations 5,474        3,750         1,724         1,095     750       345      1,095     750        345       1,095      750      345      -        -       -        -        2,190   1,500    690      -        -       -        -       -           -          

-       -        -       -       -        -       -       -       -          
Total Revenue 457,911     540,274     (82,363)      50,942   58,727   (7,785)  -            -            -            -             -           -           -            -           -           -           -           -            -           -           -           -            -            -           -            -           -           505,119    481,547  23,572    
Total Expense 504,789     460,406     44,383       94,769   95,571   (802)     81,192   78,212   3,046    54,838    52,175  2,664   29,527   26,793  2,734   43,052  38,847  4,205    48,360  43,607  4,753   93,218   68,401   24,817  22,644   20,055  2,589   37,189     36,746    443         
Net (46,878)     79,868       (126,746)    (43,827)  (36,844) (6,983)  (81,192)  (78,212)  (3,046)   (54,838)   (52,175) (2,664)  (29,527)  (26,793) (2,734)  (43,052) (38,847) (4,205)   (48,360) (43,607) (4,753)  (93,218) (68,401) (24,817) (22,644) (20,055) (2,589)  467,930    444,801  23,129    
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Variance           
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Revenues:

BCCMB Operating Revenue 444,083     421,205     22,878       -         -       -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       444,083    421,205  22,878    
Rental Income 60,000      60,000       -            -         -       -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       60,000     60,000    -          
Poultry in Motion 22,905      21,602       1,303         22,905   21,602   1,303   -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       -           -          
Grant Income 28,037      37,125       9,088-         28,037   37,125   9,088-   
BCAC Rebate 1,036        1,300         264-           -         -       -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       1,036       1,300      264-         
Interest Income 1,592        1,660         68-             1,660      1,660-      
BCCMB Operating Surplus 99,742-      2,618-         97,124-       2,618-      2,618      

-       -        -       -       -        -       -       -       -          
Expenses: -       -        -       -       -        -       -       -       -          

-       -        -       -       -        -       -       -       -          
Directors Per Diem 171,184     147,812     23,372       20,542   17,737   2,805   34,237   29,562   4,674    22,254    19,216  3,038   8,559     7,391    1,168   17,118  14,781  2,337    17,118  14,781  2,337   34,237   29,562   4,675    8,559    7,391    1,168   8,559       7,391      1,168      
Secretaries' Honorarium 64,698      63,341       1,357         12,940   12,668   271      12,940   12,668   272       6,470      6,334   136      3,235     3,167    68        3,235    3,167    68         3,235   3,167    68        3,235    3,167    68         9,705    9,501    204      9,705       9,502      203         
Per Diem Non Directors 26,859      33,240       6,381-         24,173   29,916   5,743-   1,612     1,994     383-       1,074      1,330   255-      -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       -           -          
Audit/Legal/Consulting 53,340      26,712       26,628       -         -       2,667     1,336     1,331    2,667      1,336   1,331   2,667     1,336    1,331   2,667    1,336    1,331    2,667   1,336    1,331   37,338   18,696   18,642  2,667    1,336    1,331   -           -          
Advertising & Promotions 1,257        8,927         7,670-         754        5,356    4,602-   251        1,785     1,534-    251        1,785   1,534-   -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       -           -          
PiM Operating expenses 26,882      21,203       5,679         26,882   21,203   5,679   -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       -           -          
AGM/Ann. Dinners/Picnics 18,118      22,225       4,107-         -         -       10,871   13,335   2,464-    4,530      5,557   1,028-   906        1,111    205-      -        -        906      1,111    205-      906       1,111    205-       -        -       -           -          
Conferences & Seminars 1,581        1,676         95-             158        167       9-          158        167        9-           158        167      9-          158        167       9-          237       252       15-         237      252       15-        237       252       15-         237       252       15-        -           -          
Dues & Subscription -            91             91-             -         -       -        -            -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        91         91-        -           -          
Insurance 3,216        2,909         307           1,930     1,745    184      -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       1,286    1,164    123      -           -          
Office/Bank expenses 1,891        3,200         1,309-         189        320       131-      756        1,280     524-       189        320      131-      189        320       131-      -        -        189      320       131-      189       320       131-       189       320       131-      -           -          
Property Taxes 8,720        9,648         928-           -         -       -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       8,720       9,648      928-         
Meetings/Refreshments 4,795        3,784         1,011         480        378       102      1,199     946        253       240        189      51        240        189       51        240       189       51         -       -       2,398    1,893    505       -        -       -           -          
Telephone/Fax/Internet/Conf. Call 1,493        1,226         267           373        307       66        373        307        132       149        123      26        75          61         14        75         61         14         75        61         14        373       306       67         -        -       -           -          
Strata Fees 10,205      10,205       -            -         -       -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       10,205     10,205    -          
BC Poultry Assn 59,819      60,104       285-           2,991     3,005    14-        5,982     6,010     28-         8,973      9,016   43-        8,973     9,016    43-        14,955  15,026  71-         14,955  15,026  71-        2,991    3,005    14-         -        -       -           -          
Travel & Meals 45,257      40,353       4,904         2,263     2,018    245      9,051     8,071     981       6,789      6,053   736      4,526     4,035    491      4,526    4,035    491       6,789   6,053    736      11,314   10,089   1,225    -        -       -           -          
Donations 5,474        3,750         1,724         1,095     750       345      1,095     750        345       1,095      750      345      -        -       -        -        2,190   1,500    690      -        -       -        -       -           -          

-       -        -       -       -        -       -       -       -          
Total Revenue 457,911     540,274     (82,363)      50,942   58,727   (7,785)  -            -            -            -             -           -           -            -           -           -           -           -            -           -           -           -            -            -           -            -           -           505,119    481,547  23,572    
Total Expense 504,789     460,406     44,383       94,769   95,571   (802)     81,192   78,212   3,046    54,838    52,175  2,664   29,527   26,793  2,734   43,052  38,847  4,205    48,360  43,607  4,753   93,218   68,401   24,817  22,644   20,055  2,589   37,189     36,746    443         
Net (46,878)     79,868       (126,746)    (43,827)  (36,844) (6,983)  (81,192)  (78,212)  (3,046)   (54,838)   (52,175) (2,664)  (29,527)  (26,793) (2,734)  (43,052) (38,847) (4,205)   (48,360) (43,607) (4,753)  (93,218) (68,401) (24,817) (22,644) (20,055) (2,589)  467,930    444,801  23,129    
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Total 
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Revenues:

BCCMB Operating Revenue 444,083     421,205     22,878       -         -       -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       444,083    421,205  22,878    
Rental Income 60,000      60,000       -            -         -       -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       60,000     60,000    -          
Poultry in Motion 22,905      21,602       1,303         22,905   21,602   1,303   -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       -           -          
Grant Income 28,037      37,125       9,088-         28,037   37,125   9,088-   
BCAC Rebate 1,036        1,300         264-           -         -       -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       1,036       1,300      264-         
Interest Income 1,592        1,660         68-             1,660      1,660-      
BCCMB Operating Surplus 99,742-      2,618-         97,124-       2,618-      2,618      

-       -        -       -       -        -       -       -       -          
Expenses: -       -        -       -       -        -       -       -       -          

-       -        -       -       -        -       -       -       -          
Directors Per Diem 171,184     147,812     23,372       20,542   17,737   2,805   34,237   29,562   4,674    22,254    19,216  3,038   8,559     7,391    1,168   17,118  14,781  2,337    17,118  14,781  2,337   34,237   29,562   4,675    8,559    7,391    1,168   8,559       7,391      1,168      
Secretaries' Honorarium 64,698      63,341       1,357         12,940   12,668   271      12,940   12,668   272       6,470      6,334   136      3,235     3,167    68        3,235    3,167    68         3,235   3,167    68        3,235    3,167    68         9,705    9,501    204      9,705       9,502      203         
Per Diem Non Directors 26,859      33,240       6,381-         24,173   29,916   5,743-   1,612     1,994     383-       1,074      1,330   255-      -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       -           -          
Audit/Legal/Consulting 53,340      26,712       26,628       -         -       2,667     1,336     1,331    2,667      1,336   1,331   2,667     1,336    1,331   2,667    1,336    1,331    2,667   1,336    1,331   37,338   18,696   18,642  2,667    1,336    1,331   -           -          
Advertising & Promotions 1,257        8,927         7,670-         754        5,356    4,602-   251        1,785     1,534-    251        1,785   1,534-   -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       -           -          
PiM Operating expenses 26,882      21,203       5,679         26,882   21,203   5,679   -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       -           -          
AGM/Ann. Dinners/Picnics 18,118      22,225       4,107-         -         -       10,871   13,335   2,464-    4,530      5,557   1,028-   906        1,111    205-      -        -        906      1,111    205-      906       1,111    205-       -        -       -           -          
Conferences & Seminars 1,581        1,676         95-             158        167       9-          158        167        9-           158        167      9-          158        167       9-          237       252       15-         237      252       15-        237       252       15-         237       252       15-        -           -          
Dues & Subscription -            91             91-             -         -       -        -            -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        91         91-        -           -          
Insurance 3,216        2,909         307           1,930     1,745    184      -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       1,286    1,164    123      -           -          
Office/Bank expenses 1,891        3,200         1,309-         189        320       131-      756        1,280     524-       189        320      131-      189        320       131-      -        -        189      320       131-      189       320       131-       189       320       131-      -           -          
Property Taxes 8,720        9,648         928-           -         -       -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       8,720       9,648      928-         
Meetings/Refreshments 4,795        3,784         1,011         480        378       102      1,199     946        253       240        189      51        240        189       51        240       189       51         -       -       2,398    1,893    505       -        -       -           -          
Telephone/Fax/Internet/Conf. Call 1,493        1,226         267           373        307       66        373        307        132       149        123      26        75          61         14        75         61         14         75        61         14        373       306       67         -        -       -           -          
Strata Fees 10,205      10,205       -            -         -       -        -        -         -       -        -       -        -        -       -       -        -       -        -       10,205     10,205    -          
BC Poultry Assn 59,819      60,104       285-           2,991     3,005    14-        5,982     6,010     28-         8,973      9,016   43-        8,973     9,016    43-        14,955  15,026  71-         14,955  15,026  71-        2,991    3,005    14-         -        -       -           -          
Travel & Meals 45,257      40,353       4,904         2,263     2,018    245      9,051     8,071     981       6,789      6,053   736      4,526     4,035    491      4,526    4,035    491       6,789   6,053    736      11,314   10,089   1,225    -        -       -           -          
Donations 5,474        3,750         1,724         1,095     750       345      1,095     750        345       1,095      750      345      -        -       -        -        2,190   1,500    690      -        -       -        -       -           -          

-       -        -       -       -        -       -       -       -          
Total Revenue 457,911     540,274     (82,363)      50,942   58,727   (7,785)  -            -            -            -             -           -           -            -           -           -           -           -            -           -           -           -            -            -           -            -           -           505,119    481,547  23,572    
Total Expense 504,789     460,406     44,383       94,769   95,571   (802)     81,192   78,212   3,046    54,838    52,175  2,664   29,527   26,793  2,734   43,052  38,847  4,205    48,360  43,607  4,753   93,218   68,401   24,817  22,644   20,055  2,589   37,189     36,746    443         
Net (46,878)     79,868       (126,746)    (43,827)  (36,844) (6,983)  (81,192)  (78,212)  (3,046)   (54,838)   (52,175) (2,664)  (29,527)  (26,793) (2,734)  (43,052) (38,847) (4,205)   (48,360) (43,607) (4,753)  (93,218) (68,401) (24,817) (22,644) (20,055) (2,589)  467,930    444,801  23,129    

Consumer Confidence/Positive 
Image/Increase Chicken 

Consumption

Stakeholder Relations - 
Growers

Stakeholder Relations - 
Processors/Allied Trades

Stakeholder Relations - 
Government Sustainability - Environmental Sustainability - Socially 
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MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The management of BC Chicken Growers' Association is responsible for preparing the financial
statements, the notes to the financial statements and other financial information contained in this annual
report.

Management prepares the financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles. The financial statements are considered by management to present fairly the
management's financial position and results of operations.

The organization, in fulfilling its responsibilities, has developed and maintains a system of internal
accounting controls designed to provide reasonable assurance that management assets are safeguarded
from loss or unauthorized use, and that the records are reliable for preparing the financial statements.

The financial statements have been reported on by CRKG LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, the
Association's auditors. Their report outlines the scope of their examination and their opinion on the
financial statements.

Ravi Bathe, President
February 5, 2016
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Members of 
BC Chicken Growers' Association

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of BC Chicken Growers' Association, which
comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2015, and the statements of operations,
changes in net assets and cash flow for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the organization's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the organization's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of BC
Chicken Growers' Association as at December 31, 2015, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit
organizations.

Abbotsford, BC
February 5, 2016 CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS

J .T. Cazander, CPA, CGA *
Peter Ronda, CPA, CGA *
Joe Kerkhoff, CPA, CGA *
R. Scott Groenwold, CPA, CGA*
*Practicing through a professional corporation
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Statement 1
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
December 31

2014 2013

ASSETS

Current
Cash $ 22,140 $ 57,170
Term deposits (Note 13) 150,000 150,000
Accounts receivable 716 2,105
Inventory (Note 4) 14,683 7,219
Prepaid expenses 4,027 1,165
GST receivable 139 6,689

191,705 224,348

Investment (Note 5) 50,001 -

Capital assets (Note 6) 280,890 286,884

$ 522,596 $ 511,232

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 9,242 $ 65,964
Prepaid grant (Note 7) 13,037 14,662

22,279 80,626

Fund balances 500,317 430,606

$ 522,596 $ 511,232

APPROVED:

  Director

  Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements

Statement 1
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
December 31

2015 2014

ASSETS

Current
Cash $ 26,568 $ 22,140
Term deposits 150,000 150,000
Accounts receivable 9,606 716
GST receivable 2,528 139
Inventory (Note 4) 12,045 14,683
Prepaid expenses 29,935 4,027

230,682 191,705

Investment (Note 5) - 50,001

Capital assets (Note 6) 276,920 280,890

$ 507,602 $ 522,596

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

Current
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 64,140 $ 9,242
Prepaid grant (Note 7) - 13,037

64,140 22,279

Fund balances 443,462 500,317

$ 507,602 $ 522,596

APPROVED:

  Director   Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements
British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
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Statement 2
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Year ended December 31

2014 2013

Revenues
British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board (Note 8) $ 421,205 $ 440,005
Miscellaneous income 1,660 1,646

422,865 441,651

Expenditures
Advertising and promotion 8,927 1,108
Amortization 679 230
Annual picnic, dances and dinners 22,225 19,709
BC Poultry Association (Note 9) 60,104 64,772
Bank charges 80 65
Conferences and seminars 1,676 7,128
Directors remuneration 135,619 147,306
Donations 3,750 4,860
Meetings and refreshments 3,784 3,341
Memberships, dues and subscriptions 91 3,607
Office 3,119 2,942
Professional fees (Note 10) 26,712 8,659
Secretaries honoraria 63,341 61,074
Telephone and utilities 1,226 1,625
Travel and meals 40,353 51,016

371,686 377,442

Excess of revenues over expenditures from operations 51,179 64,209

Other income (loss)
Loss on sale of capital assets - (1,661)
Rental income, Schedule 1 34,364 30,893
Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barns, Schedule 2 (14,514) (31,535)
BC Agriculture Council 1,300 -
British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board (Note 13) (2,618) (57,502)

18,532 (59,805)

Excess of revenues over expenditures for year $ 69,711 $ 4,404

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements

Statement 2
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Year ended December 31

2015 2014

Revenues
British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board (Note 8) $ 444,083 $ 421,205
Miscellaneous income 1,592 1,660

445,675 422,865

Expenditures
Advertising and promotion 1,257 8,927
Amortization 600 679
Annual picnic, dances and dinners 18,118 22,225
BC Poultry Association (Note 9) 59,819 60,104
Bank charges 17 80
Conferences and seminars 1,581 1,676
Directors remuneration 157,796 135,619
Donations 5,474 3,750
Meetings and refreshments 4,795 3,784
Memberships, dues and subscriptions - 91
Office 1,874 3,119
Professional fees (Note 10) 53,340 26,712
Secretaries honoraria 64,698 63,341
Telephone and utilities 1,493 1,226
Travel and meals 45,257 40,353

416,119 371,686

Excess of revenues over expenditures from operations 29,556 51,179

Other income (loss)
BC Agriculture Council 1,036 1,300
British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board (Note 12) (99,742) (2,618)
Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barns, Schedule 1 (23,228) (14,514)
Rental income, Schedule 2 35,523 34,364

(86,411) 18,532

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures for year $ (56,855) $ 69,711

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements
British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
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Statement 3
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
Year ended December 31

Invested in
Capital Assets unrestricted

Total
2014

Total
2013

Balance, beginning of year $ 286,884 $ 143,722 $ 430,606 $ 426,202

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures (5,994) 75,705 69,711 4,404

Balance, end of year $ 280,890 $ 219,427 $ 500,317 $ 430,606

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements

Statement 3
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
Year ended December 31

Invested in
Capital Assets unrestricted

Total
2015

Total
2014

Balance, beginning of year $ 280,890 $ 219,427 $ 500,317 $ 430,606

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures (3,970) (52,885) (56,855) 69,711

Balance, end of year $ 276,920 $ 166,542 $ 443,462 $ 500,317

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements
British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
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Statement 4
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
Year ended December 31

2014 2013

Operating
Excess of revenues over expenditures for the year $ 69,711 $ 4,404
Items not affecting cash

Amortization 10,159 10,119
Loss on sale of capital assets - 1,661

79,870 16,184
Changes in working capital accounts

Accounts receivable 1,389 (2,105)
Inventory (7,464) (7,219)
Prepaid expenses (2,862) 484
GST receivable 6,550 (6,639)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (56,724) 10,967
Prepaid grant (1,625) (19,838)

19,134 (8,166)

Investing
Purchase of investment (50,001) -
Purchase of capital assets (4,163) (4,848)
Proceeds on disposal of capital assets - 2,014

(54,164) (2,834)

Decrease in cash resources (35,030) (11,000)

Cash resources, beginning of year 207,170 218,170

Cash resources, end of year $ 172,140 $ 207,170

Cash resources consists of:
Cash $ 22,140 $ 57,170
Term deposits (Note 13) 150,000 150,000

$ 172,140 $ 207,170

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements

Statement 4
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
Year ended December 31

2015 2014

Operating
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures for the year $ (56,855) $ 69,711
Item not affecting cash

Amortization 9,977 10,159

(46,878) 79,870
Changes in working capital accounts

Accounts receivable (8,890) 1,389
GST receivable (2,389) 6,550
Inventory 2,638 (7,464)
Prepaid expenses (25,908) (2,862)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 54,899 (56,724)
Prepaid grant (13,037) (1,625)

(39,565) 19,134

Investing
Decrease (increase) in investment 50,001 (50,001)
Purchase of capital assets (6,008) (4,163)

43,993 (54,164)

Increase (decrease) in cash resources 4,428 (35,030)

Cash resources, beginning of year 172,140 207,170

Cash resources, end of year $ 176,568 $ 172,140

Cash resources consists of:
Cash $ 26,568 $ 22,140
Term deposits 150,000 150,000

$ 176,568 $ 172,140

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these statements
British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2015

1. Incorporation and nature of business

BC Chicken Growers' Association was incorporated under the Society Act of British Columbia to
unite the commercial chicken growers in working for the betterment of the chicken industry and
to act as a liaison between chicken growers and marketing boards, industry and government.

2. Accounting policies

The Association applies the Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit enterprises.

Basis of accounting

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards
for not-for-profit organizations.

Financial statement presentation

These financial statements are restricted in scope and contain a representation only of the
financial activities pertaining to the British Columbia Chicken Growers Association.

Inventory

Inventory, which consists of items held for distribution at no cost, for the Poultry in Motion
trailers, is realized at the lower of cost or net replacement value.  Cost is determined using the
First-in First-out method.

Investments

The association follows the cost method of reporting long-term investments.  If there is an other
than temporary decline in value, these investments are written down to provide for the loss

Capital assets

Capital assets are recorded at cost.  The Association provides for amortization using the declining
balance method at rates designed to amortize the cost of the capital assets over their estimated
useful lives.  The annual amortization rates are as follows:

Buildings 4%
Poultry in Motion Educational Mini
Barns 10%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Computer equipment 30%
Educational video 10%

British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2015

2. Accounting policies (continued from previous page)

Income taxes

The Association is registered as a not-for-profit agricultural organization under the Society Act of
British Columbia, and as such is exempt from income taxes pursuant to Subsection 149(1)(e) of
the Income Tax Act.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized as follows:

-Revenue from BC Chicken Marketing board are recognized as they are received.

-Revenue from the display of the "Poultry in Motion" trailers are recognized when the     service
is provided.

-Cost sharing revenue is recognized when it is billed.

-Rent revenue are recognized as income on a monthly basis as the rent is due.

-Unrestricted grant income is recognized as received, restricted grant income is recognized as the
restrictions from the grant are fulfilled.

-Interest is recognized as it is earned.

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for
not-for-profit organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reported
period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.

3. Financial instruments

Transactions in financial instruments may result in an entity assuming or transferring to another
party one or more of the financial risks described below. The required disclosures provide
information that assists users of financial statements in assessing the extent of risk related to
financial instruments.

British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board

ANNUAL REPORT70

BCCGA FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED



BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2015

3. Financial instruments (continued from previous page)

(a) Fair value
The fair value of current financial assets and current financial liabilities approximates their
carrying value due to their short-term maturity dates.  The fair value of long-term financial
liabilities approximates their carrying value based on the presumption that the Association is
a going concern and thus expects to fully repay the outstanding amounts.

4. Inventory

2015 2014

Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barns - teachers' guides and
promotional materials $ 12,045 $ 14,683

5. Investment

In 2014 the Association, invested in the newly formed BC Poultry Captive Insurance Company
Inc.  The Association had purchased a 25% stake in this company which has been formed to
provide insurance to British Columbia poultry farmers in the event of an Avian Influenza
outbreak in British Columbia. Early in 2015 it was discovered that the Natural Products
Marketing (BC) Act (NPMA BC) prevents BC Chicken Marketing Board (BCCMB) from
depositing funds into an insurance program such as the BC Poultry Captive Insurance Company
Inc. As the Association obtains its funding from the BCCMB, the Board was directed by the
BCCMB to withdraw from the insurance program and have the funds returned to the BCCMB. If
the wording of the NPMA BC is amended in the future, the board will revisit the program and
decide at that time if it is in the best interest of their members. 

British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2015

6. Capital assets

2015 2014

Cost
Accumulated
amortization Net Net

Land $ 100,277 $ - $ 100,277 $ 100,277
Buildings 243,417 110,181 133,236 138,788
Poultry in Motion Educational

Mini Barns 57,862 19,426 38,436 36,254
Furniture and fixtures 6,386 6,042 344 430
Computer equipment 4,783 4,083 700 778
Educational video 4,848 921 3,927 4,363

$ 417,573 $ 140,653 $ 276,920 $ 280,890

In 2013 the Association had committed to producing a secondary school age educational video
and accompanying resource materials.  To assist with the development of this video and the
accompanying resource manuals, the Association  received two grants (see note 7). For 2015 the
production of the video and the development of the accompanying resource materials have been
completed and the video has been shown to different secondary schools through out the Province
of BC.

7. Prepaid grant

On September 5, 2012 the Association received a grant for the production of the video from the
"Abbotsford Community Foundation - Agricultural Enhancements Grants Program" for  $34,500.

On November 30, 2012 the Association was approved for an additional grant by the Investment
Agriculture Foundation of British Columbia (IAF of BC) at a rate of 23.66% of eligible costs up
to a maximum of $15,500. On March 11, 2013, the Association received $7,750 of the grant.  As
management can not confirm that the Association will receive the balance of the grant,  the total
IAF of BC grant has not been recognized at this time.
These funds were received to assist in the production  of a secondary school age - educational
video. At the end of 2015, management has determined that it has used up all of the $42,250 in
funds that were received.
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2015

8. Related party transactions 

During the year, the Association received operating revenue of $444,083 (2014 - $421,205) and
rental revenue of $60,000 (2014 - $60,000) from the British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board.
These transactions were in the normal course of operations and were measured at the exchange
amount, which was the amount of consideration established and agreed upon by the related
parties.

9. BC Poultry Association

During the year, the Association paid fees to the BC Poultry Association, which represents the
feather groups in BC. The BC Poultry Association is keenly interested in the continued
development of the bio-security initiatives within the BC Poultry Industry. It will strengthen the
long term viability of the entire industry to further develop on farm strategies that will minimize
disease infections and encourage improved flock husbandry practices. The BC Poultry
Association also represents the four feather groups by taking a lead on common issues and one
voice as required from time to time, making for a more efficient and cost effective representation
of the industry.

10. Professional fees

Details of the professional fees are as follows:

2015 2014

Audit $ 5,200 $ 5,585
Legal 25,805 16,327
Consulting 22,335 4,800

$ 53,340 $ 26,712

11. Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barns Cost Sharing

The British Columbia Broiler Hatching Egg Producers' Association owns 20% of the Poultry in
Motion Educational Mini Barn and shares in 20% of the net operating costs of the trailer for each
calendar year. An invoice was issued on December 31, 2015 to the BC Broiler Hatching Egg
Producers Association for $2,991. This amount represents cost sharing of $8,810 less $5,819 for
per diem work and expenses that the BC Broiler Hatching Egg Producers Association paid
directly to its directors. The Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barn II is owned 100% by the
Association and there is no cost sharing involved in its operating costs.
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BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2015

12. British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board

At the British Columbia Chicken Growers' Association Directors' meeting of February 10, 2016,
the directors passed a motion to return $49,740.97 plus GST of the 2015 operating surplus to the
British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board. During the year the Board also returned the
investment of $50,001 to the British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board (see note 5).

13. Economic dependence

The Association receives substantially all of its funding from the British Columbia Chicken
Marketing Board.
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Schedule 1
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
SCHEDULE OF POULTRY IN MOTION EDUCATIONAL MINI BARNS
Year ended December 31

2015 2014

Revenue
Operating revenue $ 14,095 $ 16,804
Cost sharing (Note 11) 8,810 4,798
Operating grants 28,037 37,125

50,942 58,727

Expenditures
Amortization 3,825 3,696
Attendants' remuneration 26,457 21,525
PIM coordinator's honorarium 15,040 24,990
Insurance 1,966 1,827
Operating 26,882 21,203

74,170 73,241

Poultry in Motion Educational Mini Barns losses $ (23,228) $ (14,514)

British Columbia Chicken Marketing Board

ANNUAL REPORT 75

BCCGA FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED



Schedule 2
BC CHICKEN GROWERS' ASSOCIATION
SCHEDULE OF RENTAL INCOME
Year ended December 31

2015 2014

Rental revenue $ 60,000 $ 60,000

Expenses
Amortization 5,552 5,783
Strata fees 10,205 10,205
Property taxes 8,720 9,648

24,477 25,636

Rental income $ 35,523 $ 34,364
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